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THE ISSUER 

Name: BOXABL INC. 
Head office: 5345 E. N. Belt Road, North Las Vegas, Nevada, USA 89115 
Phone number: 1 (203) 550-4493 
E-mail address: g@boxabl.com 
Currently listed or quoted? No - These securities do not trade on any exchange or 

market. 
Reporting issuer? No 
SEDAR filer? No 

THE OFFERING 

Securities offered: Series A-2 Preferred Stock 

Price per security: $0.80 

Minimum and Maximum 
offering: 

The minimum offering is $0. There is no minimum offering, you 
may be the only purchaser. 
The maximum offering is $300,000,000. 
Funds available under the offering may not be sufficient to 
accomplish our proposed objectives. 

Minimum investment: 
$1,000. We may accept smaller denominations in our sole 
discretion.  

Payment terms: 
Subscription amount is payable through the selling agent’s 
platform.  

Proposed closing date(s): On or more dates as are chosen by the issuer. 

Selling agent? Yes - FRONTFUNDR FINANCIAL SERVICES INC. See Item 7. 

RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

You will be restricted from selling your securities for an indefinite period. See Item 10. 

PURCHASER’S RIGHTS 

You have two (2) business days to cancel your agreement to purchase these securities.   
If there is a misrepresentation in this offering memorandum, you have the right to sue  

either for damages or to cancel the agreement.  See Item 11. 

RISK DISCLAIMER 

No securities regulatory authority or regulator has assessed the merits of these 
securities  or reviewed this offering memorandum. Any representation to the 

contrary is an offence.   
This is a risky investment.  See Item 8 
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ABOUT THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM 

This offering of Series A-2 Preferred Stock (the “Offered Securities”) in the authorized 
capital of BOXABL INC. (“Boxabl” and herein referred to as the “Issuer”, the “Company” 
and in the first-person, e.g., “we”, “our”; references in the second-person, e.g., “you”, 
“your”, and “subscriber” or “purchaser” mean the prospective purchaser under the 
offering) as described in this Form 45-106F2 Offering Memorandum for Non-Qualifying 
Issuers (the “Offering Memorandum” or “this offering memorandum”) is being made in 
Canada pursuant to that certain prospectus exemption contained in section 2.9 (the 
“Offering”) of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions (“NI 45-106”). This 
Offering Memorandum constitutes an offering of securities only in such jurisdictions and 
only to those persons to whom they may be lawfully offered for sale. This Offering 
Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is to be construed as, a prospectus or 
advertisement, or a public offering of these securities.    

Prospective purchasers should rely only on the information contained in this Offering 
Memorandum and should not rely on some parts of this Offering Memorandum to the 
exclusion of others. No person is authorized to give any information or to make any 
representation not contained in this Offering Memorandum, and any information or 
representation other than those contained herein must not be relied upon. Any such 
information or representation which is given or received must not be relied upon.  Each 
purchaser must consult with their advisors as to legal, tax, business, financial and related 
aspects of any purchase of the securities. A sale of securities is subject to the provisions of 
the binding purchase and subscription agreements (the “Subscription Agreement”), the 
form of which will be provided to prospective purchasers.   

This Offering Memorandum contains summaries of the proposed terms of this Offering and 
certain documents related to this Offering. Reference should be made to the actual 
documents for complete information concerning the rights and obligations of the parties 
thereto, and all such summaries are qualified in their entirety accordingly. Copies of certain 
documents referred to in this Offering Memorandum are available upon request to 
support@frontfundr.com. 

All subscriptions received with respect to this Offering are subject to rejection or 
acceptance in full or in part by the Issuer. The Issuer is not obligated to accept any 
subscription. Subscriptions that are rejected will be returned without interest or deduction.  

 
CURRENCY 

All dollar amounts referred to herein are denominated in the lawful currency of the United 
States of America (USD) unless otherwise expressly provided. 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 
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This Offering Memorandum includes forward-looking information and forward-looking 
statements (collectively, “forward-looking information") with respect to the Issuer. Any 
statements that express or involve discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, 
beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, assumptions, future events or performance (often, 
but not always, using words or phrases including, but not limited to, “expects”, “does not 
expect”, “is expected”, “anticipates”, “does not anticipate”, “plans”, “estimates”, 
“believes”, “does not believe” or  “intends”, or stating that certain actions, events or results 
may, could, would, might or will be taken, occur or be achieved) are not statements of 
historical fact and may be “forward-looking information”. This information represents 
predictions and actual events, or results may differ materially.      

Forward-looking information may relate to the Issuer’s outlook and anticipated events or 
results and may include statements regarding: intended future offerings of equity or debt 
securities and expected fundraising goals, anticipated loan or debt arrangements and other 
potential sources of funding, the use of funds from the Offering or future sources of funding, 
future demand level for Boxabl products and the specifications and building types for future 
products, pending patent approvals, production capacity to service the markets in the US 
and internationally, obtaining certain state certifications with respect to modular homes 
and building codes, pending approvals for the Casitas (defined below), the growing market 
for Boxabl products, benefits to innovations for Boxabl through competition, completion of 
production on current orders for Boxabl products, continued development of 
manufacturing procedures, creation of additional jobs and additional staffing for Boxabl,  
international expansion and use of a franchise model, moving to a second production 
facility and completion of a Mega Facility (defined below), expenditures on equipment 
upgrades, lowering cost of and ramping up production, improving facility equipment and 
processes, production of next generation products, the outcome of litigation matters,  the 
Issuer’s financial results, future financial position, expected growth of cash flows, business 
strategy, budgets, projected costs, projected capital expenditures, taxes, plans, objectives, 
industry trends, and growth opportunities. Forward-looking information contained in this 
Offering Memorandum is based on certain assumptions regarding expected growth, results 
of operations, performance, industry trends, and growth opportunities.    

While management considers these assumptions to be reasonable, based on information 
available, they may prove to be incorrect. Forward-looking statements involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, 
performance, or achievements of the Issuer to be materially different from any future 
results, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking 
statements. These risks, uncertainties, and other factors include, but are not limited to risks 
associated with,  general economic conditions; adverse industry events; marketing costs; 
loss of markets; changes in market demand, availability of materials and supply chain 
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issues, ability to obtain patents, ability to obtain certifications in current and future markets 
including international markets, strength of competitors and new competition, ability to 
obtain skilled workforce and additional employees, determination of court or government 
authorities regarding litigation matters or ability to resolve litigation with  minimal impact to 
Boxabl or obtain a settlements or positive outcome for litigation matters, inability to access 
sufficient capital from internal and external sources, and/or inability to access sufficient 
capital on favorable terms; the industry generally, income tax and regulatory matters; the 
ability of the Issuer to implement its business strategies; competition; currency and interest 
rate fluctuations, and other risks discussed in this Offering Memorandum (see Item 8 – Risk 
Factors). The foregoing factors are not intended to be exhaustive.    

Although the Issuer has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual 
actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking 
statements, there may be other factors that cause actions, events, or results to differ from 
those anticipated, estimated, or intended. Forward-looking statements contained herein 
are made as of the date hereof and the Issuer and its directors, officers, and employees 
disclaim any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or results or otherwise. There can be no assurance that 
forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events 
could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, you should 
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements due to the inherent uncertainty 
therein. All forward-looking information is expressly qualified in its entirety by this 
cautionary statement. Forward-looking information and other information contained herein 
concerning management’s general expectations concerning the manufacturing industry is 
based on estimates prepared by management using data from publicly available industry 
sources as well as from market research and industry analysis and on assumptions based 
on data and knowledge of this industry which management believes to be reasonable. 
However, this data is inherently imprecise, although generally indicative of relative market 
positions, market shares, and performance characteristics. While management is not 
aware of any misstatements regarding any industry data or comparables presented herein, 
industry data and comparables are subject to change based on various factors. The Issuer 
has not independently verified any of this data from independent third-party sources.   

Any forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Memorandum are made as of the 
date hereof and the Issuer does not undertake to update or revise them, except as may be 
required by applicable securities law.   

MARKETING MATERIALS AND DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

The written disclosures made by the Company on its offering page 
(www.frontfundr.com/boxabl) (the “Deal Page”) with respect to the Offering, including the 
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investor presentation, and any other written marketing materials relating to the distribution 
of Offered Securities under this Offering Memorandum and delivered or made reasonably 
available to prospective purchasers prior to the termination of the distribution of the Offered 
Securities under the Offering, are hereby specifically incorporated by reference into and 
form an integral part of this Offering Memorandum. Any statement contained in a document 
incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be 
modified or superseded for the purposes of this Offering Memorandum to the extent that a 
statement contained herein or in any other subsequent document which also is, or is 
deemed to be, incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. 
The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded 
a prior statement or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies 
or supersedes. The making of a modifying or superseding statement shall not be deemed 
an admission for any purpose that the modified or superseded statement, when made, 
constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact, or an omission to 
state a material fact that was required to be stated or that was necessary to make a 
statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement 
so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to 
constitute a part of this Offering Memorandum. 

[CONTENTS OF THE PRESCRIBED FORM 45-106F2 PROCEED HEREAFTER]
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Item 1 Use of Available Funds 

1.1 Funds 
Table 1.1 

  Assuming 
min. Offering 

Assuming 
max. Offering 

A Amount to be raised by this Offering (1) $0 $300,000,000 
B Selling commissions and fees  $0 $15,050,000 

(2) 
C Estimated Offering costs (e.g., legal, accounting, 

audit, etc.) (1) 
$89,500 $89,500 

D Available funds A – (B + C) $(89,500) $284,860,500 
E Additional sources of funding required (1) (4) $700,000,000 $700,000,000 
F Working capital deficiency (5)  $0 $0 
G Total: G= (D + E) – F $699,910,500 $984,860,500 

(1) In addition to this Offering, the Issuer intends to conduct concurrent offerings of the $0.80 Series A-2 
Preferred Stock in other jurisdictions, including the United States and in the United Kingdom to reach 
its intended goal of raising approximately $1,000,000,000. The Issuer is currently offering its $0.80 
Series A-2 Preferred Stock to United States investors through StartEngine Capital, LLC. 
(“StartEngine”), as a Regulation D offering (Rule 506(c)), which are offered only to accredited 
investors. See Item 2.7 for information regarding the StartEngine agreement. See Item 4.3 for prior 
sales of the Offered Securities in the last 12 months. 

(2) This estimated amount is comprised of (i) $15,000,000 in commissions payable to agents and 
dealers, calculable as 5% of the amount raised, and (ii) $50,000 estimated in filing fees payable to 
applicable security regulatory authorities. The actual amount to be paid in selling commissions and 
fees is subject to the composition of investments received in this Offering – see Item 7.  

(3) The Offering costs have already been incurred and paid by the Issuer. 

(4) The Issuer is in the process of applying for a loan for approximately $700,000,000. The loan is in the 
application stages as of the date of this Offering Memorandum. The loan has not been approved and 
specific terms have not been set. There can be no assurance the loan will be approved – see Item 8.  

(5) The Issuer has no working capital deficiency, as at the date not more than 30 days prior to the date of 
the offering memorandum. 

1.2 Use of Available Funds 
Table 1.2 

Description of intended use of available funds,  
listed in order of priority 

Assuming 
min. Offering 

Assuming 
max. Offering 

Facility Construction $0 $324,979,599 
Software Integration $0 $10,367,497 
Assembly Line & Capital Equipment  $0 $601,097,187 
Research & Development  $0 $48,416,217 
Total: Equal to G in the Funds table above  $0 $984,860,500 
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1.3 Reallocation   

We intend to spend the available funds as stated. We will reallocate funds only for sound 
business reasons.    

Item 2 Business of the Issuer 

2.1 Structure 

The Company was incorporated on December 2, 2017, as a Nevada limited liability 
company, under the laws of the state of Nevada. On June 16th, 2020, we converted into a 
Nevada corporation under Nevada Revised Statutes of the State of Nevada (the “NRS”). 

2.2 Our Business  

Boxabl is on a mission to bring building construction in line with modern manufacturing 
processes, creating a superior residential and commercial building that could be 
completed in half the time for half the cost of traditional construction. 

The core product that we offer is the “Building Box", which consists of room modules that 
ship to sites at a low cost and are stacked and connected to almost any shape and style of 
finished buildings. The Boxabl product is our 20x20 ft. Casita Box (the “Casita”), that folds 
down to 8.5 ft. wide for shipping, and still has sufficient space for factory-installed kitchens, 
bathrooms, and more. Each unit is a separate box. We are currently evaluating market 
demand, but anticipate that available dimensions will be 20x20 ft., 20x30 ft., 20x40 ft., and 
20x60 ft. 

Many raw materials in our products will be processed by off-the-shelf computer numerical 
control (“CNC”) equipment, which is the automated control of machining tools utilizing a 
computer. The use of CNC equipment will give us a degree of automation right away, which 
we intend to expand to allow for the manufacturing process to be more fully automated. 
Our wall design does not use standard lumber framing, instead we use a laminated panel 
technology that includes steel skin, expanded polystyrene foam, and concrete board. We 
can source these materials from multiple vendors and do not rely on any particular vendor. 
Unlike wood construction, our panels are less likely to burn, rot, mold, attract bugs or 
degrade. They are also compatible with automation, CNC, and the factory environment. 

Our core technology and intellectual property was invented by our Chief Executive Officer, 
Paolo Tiramani; Director, Galiano Tiramani; and Lead Engineer, Kyle Denman. The 
technology is owned by BUILD IP LLC (“IP CO”), a Nevada limited liability company 
specifically formed to be a holding company for the Company’s IP. IP CO is controlled by 
Paolo Tiramani and has entered into exclusive licensing with Boxabl (the “License 
Agreement”) - see Item 2.7: License Agreement.  
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Boxabl has rights to issued and pending patents from Build IP LLC for the structure and 
transportation of the Boxabl building system, covering all important aspects of its 
commercial designs and the foreseeable alternatives. The filings closely track and reflect 
the product designs as they are updated. Further, the scope of protection sought extends 
beyond the design of the building structures and includes innovative delivery and assembly 
equipment and techniques. To date, Build IP LLC has been awarded seven US patents and 
two Canadian patents. 

Through the License Agreement, the patented shipping allows us to serve large geographic 
areas from a single Boxabl factory. With this shipping technology, we believe that the 
location of our flagship factory in North Las Vegas, Nevada will be able to produce products 
(the “Boxes”) that can service throughout the US, with the potential to ship internationally.  

Our “Building Box" system and Box design were created specifically to maximize 
repeatability in manufacturing. This is achieved in part, by reducing the individual 
components in the build by approximately 80% compared to traditional building, which 
requires large amounts of raw materials.  

Our Boxes fall under different state certification requirements for housing depending on its 
end use. For instance, we are seeking to obtain state certifications under modular home 
building codes, with an initial emphasis on International Building Code (IBC 2018), 
International Residential Code (IRC 2018), Arizona, California (CBC and CRC), and City of 
Los Angeles Residential Code (LARC), and Nevada, along with the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) standards. As we expand geographically, we 
anticipate needing more approvals to meet each state’s modular home building code. For 
modular homes, US states require the approval of a third-party testing and inspection 
company, to conduct product testing and factory inspections. We have engaged a third-
party, ICC Evaluation Service, LLC, for the purposes of testing. We are pending the required 
third-party approval but have previously received approvals for the Casita to be used at the 
builder trade show in Las Vegas following submitting engineer reviewed plans to the City of 
Las Vegas. If third party testing requires changes in our structures, we believe we will be 
able to adjust and still deliver our foldable Boxes. 

Changes in zoning laws designed to increase housing density and solve housing 
affordability are allowing people around the country, and especially in California, to build 
accessory dwelling units (“ADU”) for use and rent. In the city of Los Angeles alone, almost 
5,000 ADU permits were issued last year. This is a burgeoning market for which the Boxabl 
product is anticipated to be well positioned. We believe we can deliver Casitas to 
customers under “park model” recreational vehicle rules. Certification under these 
requirements is driven by local regulations and can be satisfied by our construction 
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process. Builders will still be required to obtain local building permits, as well as those 
necessary for tying into local water and electric services. 

While we believe ADU is our first direct entry into the market, Boxabl is not limited to small 
residential units. The Boxabl product can be used in a wide range of building types 
— residential, commercial, high rise, multi-family, apartment, disaster relief, military, labor 
housing, and more. 

Our competition can be broken into the following categories: 
  

● Stick built: Traditional home building method, accounts for majority of the market.  Raw 
materials are brought to site and built by hand into finished buildings. This market is 
made up of many small builders. We believe this group represents our likely customer 
base, as we provide them with a better solution. 

● Manufactured: Manufactured homes are standardized homes built in a factory and 
shipped to site. These homes are generally built to a lower standard called the national 
HUD code and attempt to come in at the lowest cost possible. The defining factor with 
this product is that they are generally deemed personal property and not real property. 
Only a few large companies dominate this category. 

● Modular: Modular homes are factory-built homes required to be built to the same or 
higher building code standards of stick-built homes. These homes are generally more 
customizable than manufactured homes. 

● Panelized systems: Wall panels with different levels of finish are built in a factory and 
then assembled onsite, usually by those doing stick-built construction. 

In addition, there are a few new and notable housing start-ups trying to address the 
problems in the housing markets. Boxabl’s competitors include, but are not limited, to the 
following companies: Plant Prefab, Adodu, Cover Homes, Bay Modular, Ikea, California 
Modular, Connect Homes, Samara, and Nomad Cube House. We see start-ups such as 
Blockable, Katerra, Factory OS, and Rad Urban, as direct competitors, but also may 
potentially benefit from efforts to make innovative design and construction the new norm in 
homebuilding. 

2.3 Development of Business 

In 2019, Boxabl delivered the first prototype at the Builders Show in Las Vegas to present 
our development of a solution to many issues builders struggle with. We received the 
equivalent of 6,000,000+ sq. ft. of potential reservations from professional builders. These 
reservations were simply an indication of interest, and we did not take any deposits; they 
are not a guarantee of future revenues. After the show, we ordered basic manufacturing 
equipment and continued to perfect the system and address feedback we got from the 
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builder community. We were invited back to the 2020 show through a sponsorship with 
Professional Builder Magazine. Once we decided our initial building product focus would be 
the ADU market, we built three more units for the show. In January 2020, we debuted the 
“Casita” at the Builders Show and again received a high level of interest from potential 
customers.  

Rather than just making available “reservations”, we began taking deposits for positions on 
our waitlist.  We have three tiers of pre-order on our waitlist.: 1) Free; 2) $200 deposit; and 
3) $5,000 deposit.  To date, we have over 157,000 names on our customer waitlist, with 
many of those potential customers indicating they want to purchase more than one Casita. 
Although most of the names on this waitlist have not paid a deposit, we have received over 
8,000 deposit payments to date. Occasionally, some of those customers do ask for a refund 
for various reasons. Out of $5,294,500 in total deposits paid through our website, we have 
refunded $992,026 as of December 20, 2022. 

In September 2020, the Company received two purchase orders from Atlantic Diving Supply 
Inc. (“ADS, Inc.” or “ADS”), to deliver 156 Casitas to the federal government. Boxabl 
received $9,304,840.50 from ADS, the full amount due under the terms of the contract, 
including one additional Casita, for a total final delivery of 157 Casitas. 

We have now begun production and delivery on a 227 Casita order to a construction 
company customer in the United States.  The purchase agreements, dated September 6, 
2022, for the 227 Casitas have been drafted but are still being finalized with the customer. 
The final purchase order has not been executed by both parties. The order purchase prices 
are anticipated to total approximately $10,708,000 and $2,500,000, respectively. The order 
may be subject to change, there can be no assurance the final order price will reflect the 
current order price. After the order has been executed, the buyer may seek to cancel the 
order. See Item 2.7 for further discussion on sales agreements. 

We intend to be in production and final sales to our retail and home builder potential 
customers once we are able to build at our desired production rates and obtain state 
certifications. Our initial Casita orders will allow us to continue the development of our 
manufacturing procedures and obtain end-user feedback which we intend to utilize for 
further developments to the Casita product. 

Our starter production facility in Las Vegas, Nevada has been built and we are ramping up 
production. We worked with industry-leading consultants to develop a plan for maximizing 
production efforts through automation, process efficiency, and supply chain 
considerations. The units and panels will move through stations in the factory where 
different sections are completed. Our current factory design utilizes ten stations. We
entered into a lease for our starter production facility on December 29, 2020, which we took 
possession of on May 1, 2021, on a 65-month lease. The facility features 173,720 square 
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feet of usable floor space, which we have begun to outfit with capital equipment necessary 
for the construction of our Boxes. We currently employ over 200 people. We believe this 
factory should create approximately 300 new direct jobs when fully staffed. Many more 
indirect jobs will be created on the building sites by our customers when they are using our 
modules to build. 

We will also support operations at our starter facility with a second facility in Las Vegas, 
Nevada, for which we have entered into a 73-month lease agreement on June 10, 2022, 
featuring 132,960 square feet. Finalizing the completion of this second facility will allow us 
to better stage inventory and in-house component fabrication.   

We have received interest for a franchise model from over 400 parties in 17 US States and 
25 countries via our investor relations team and franchise factory inquiries via 
boxabl.com/partners. We believe we will seek franchising in the future to enhance our 
ability to expand internationally, as described in Item 2.4. We believe franchising revenues 
for Boxabl would encompass a one-time franchise fee for set-up, franchise and consulting 
fees, royalties of 5-7% of sales, and service contracts. 

2.4 Long Term Objectives 
Table 2.4 

Objective What must occur Expected 
occurrence 

Expected 
costs 

Expand 
internationally using a 
franchise model  

Boxabl anticipates 
refining its factories 
while developing 
procedures and 
memorandums of 
understanding for 
potential future partner 
factories for its 
proposed franchise 
model.  

1 – 2 years $1,000,000 

Utilize processes and 
research from 
previous facilities to 
build a “Boxilla” 
factory or “mega-
facility” (the “Mega 
Facility”) with 
optimally efficient 
processes 

Boxabl plans to build a 
Mega Facility, the 
world’s largest and 
most advanced house 
factory (1). If the 
project’s planning and 
funding is 
accomplished, Boxabl 
will proceed to locate 
land, purchase or lease 
land, and begin 
construction of a large 

2-3 years $1,000,000,000 
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warehouse building 
anticipated to be up to 
two million square feet.  

(1) The Mega Facility is contingent on funding estimated to total $1,000,000,000. See Item 
8 – Risk Factors for further details. 

2.5 Short Term Objectives and How We Intend to Achieve Them 

As we move into our second facility in Las Vegas, Nevada, we are also making some 
significant improvements. During 2023, we expect to spend approximately $15,000,000 on 
equipment upgrades. These include equipment such as a new automated panel lamination 
system, CNC cutting equipment, a conveyor system that moves houses down our assembly 
line, and a new paint booth system. We are installing new equipment to reduce labor costs, 
increase production rate, and increase product quality while sourcing lower-cost materials. 
As we transition to a next generation product version, we anticipate ramping up production 
and seek state modular certification so that we can sell houses to more customers.  Boxabl 
intends to raise capital through many different sources including an offering in the United 
States, the United Kingdom, and this Offering in Canada. Boxabl is also seeking debt 
financing, see Item 1.1 for additional information. 

Table 2.5 

What we must do and how we will do it 

Target completion date / 
number of months to 

complete 

Our cost to 
complete  

Finish developing second production 
facility to make it fully operational by 
installing electrical and equipment for 
production by sourcing and 
implementing new equipment (1) 

1 – 3 months $5,000,000 

Complete setup of our second facility 
and integrate into our production 
process alongside our initial facility by 
installing new equipment for automation 
with sourced materials aligned with our 
cost-structure while enhancing 
scalability with our new equipment (1) 

3 – 6 months $10,000,000 

Ramp up production to achieve our 
desired production at scale by improving 
our facility processes through upgrading 
factory equipment, including our 

6 – 12 months $10,000,000 
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conveyor system, CNC equipment, paint 
booth, and lamination system, and begin 
production of our next-generation 
Casita. We will seek state modular 
certification in order to sell more Boxes 
to more customers.  

(1) The two objectives described above are encompassing of Boxabl’s anticipated 
$15,000,000 customized equipment delivery expected in the spring of 2023. 

2.6 Insufficient Funds 

The funds available as a result of the Offering may not be sufficient to accomplish all of the 
Issuer’s proposed objectives and there is no assurance that alternative financing will be 
available. See Item 4.3 for capital Boxabl has raised in the last 12 months. Boxabl intends 
to raise capital through many different sources including an offering in the United States, 
the United Kingdom, and Canada. Boxabl is also seeking debt financing, see Item 1.1 for 
additional information. 

2.7 Material Agreements 

Corporate Agreements 

Equity Incentive Plan 
Pursuant to a stock-based compensation agreement dated October 4, 2021, and expiring 
October 4, 2031, (the “Equity Incentive Plan” or “Plan”), Boxabl’s board of directors (the 
“Board”) approved the Issuer’s Equity Incentive Plan. The Plan is a stock-based 
compensation plan that provides for discretionary grants of stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, and restricted stock unit awards to employees, 
non-employee directors, and consultants. The number of shares of the common stock of 
the Company (the “Common Stock”) that is eligible for issuance under the Plan is to equal 
to no more than 150,000,000 shares. For disclosure regarding stock options that have been 
granted as of the date of this Offering Memorandum, see Item 4.1 for additional 
information. 

Stockholders Agreement 
On June 16, 2020, and since amended on February 24, 2021, and amended and restated on 
April 7, 2022, the Company and the shareholders listed in schedule "A" thereto, entered into 
a stockholders agreement (the “Stockholders Agreement”) as it was deemed it was in the 
best interests of the Company and the shareholders to set forth in the Stockholders 
Agreement, their respective rights and obligations in connection with their investment in the 
Company. See Item 5.1 for additional information. 
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Bylaws 
On June 16, 2020, the Company, the Board, and Paolo Tiramani acting as duly appointed 
Secretary of the Company adopted Bylaws. 

Voting Trust Agreement 
On January 12, 2023, the Company, Galiano Tiramani (in his capacity as “Voting Trustee” 
as defined therein), and the shareholders listed in the schedule "A" thereto (including those 
shareholders that delivered an accession thereto after the date thereof) entered into a 
voting trust agreement and declaration of trust (the “Voting Trust Agreement”). See Item 
5.1 – Voting Rights for additional information.  

Sales Agreements 

Purchase Agreements 
In February 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with a home builder. The 
agreement was paid with $1,000,000 as convertible notes, bearing interest at 10% interest 
per annum, calculated on the basis of a 365-day year for the actual number of days elapsed, 
and a purchase commitment of 100 units of Casitas upon the notification by the Company 
that production could be started. The convertible notes converted into 18,335,852 Series 
A-1 Preferred Stock at a price per share of $0.0553 (70% discount per share price) pursuant 
to the Regulation A offering in the United States as of April 1, 2022. See Item 4.3 for prior 
sales. 

In September 2020, the Company signed two purchase agreements with ADS to sell 156 
Casita units, for a total original contract price of $9,245,574. The Company has received 
three progress payments as of December 31, 2021. The first progress payment of 
$2,346,893 was received in December 2020. The second progress payment of $2,275,892 
was received in February 2021, within the 120-day terms of the purchase order acceptance. 
The third progress payment in the amount of $2,311,394 was received in October 2021 and 
the remaining amount of $2,370,662, was received June 3, 2022, for 157 units delivered. 
Originally, the order consisted of 156 Casitas. However, due to one of the Casitas being 
damaged during transit, ADS added another Casita to the order at no additional cost to 
Boxabl. Boxabl received $9,304,841 total for the sales of the 157 Casitas.  

See Item 2.3 for further discussion on Sales Agreements. 

Third-Party Agreements  

Agency Agreement with FrontFundr Financial Services Inc. 
Pursuant to an agency agreement with FrontFundr Financial Services Inc. (“FrontFundr”) 
dated August 31, 2022 (the “Agency Agreement”), the Issuer has engaged FrontFundr to 
act as a sales, marketing and administrative agent in connection with the Offering and to 
provide certain related services to the Issuer. FrontFundr is registered as an “exempt market 
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dealer” (as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions 
and Ongoing Registrant Obligations) in British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, Manitoba, 
Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick, and Nova Scotia. In connection therewith, we have paid 
FrontFundr an onboarding fee of CDN$18,500 and a service fee of CDN$5000 for the 
drafting of certain Offering materials. Upon a distribution of Offered Securities, subject to 
certain limitations in the Agency Agreement, we will pay FrontFundr a cash trade fee equal 
to five percent (5.00%) of the amount processed by FrontFundr. We may also engage 
FrontFundr for certain closing fees up to $1750 per closing. See Item 7 for additional 
information.    

Agency Agreement with StartEngine Capital, LLC 
We have also engaged StartEngine to act as its placement agent to assist in the placement 
of its securities in certain offerings in the United States as described in Item 1.1. The 
Company will pay a cash commission of 7-13% to StartEngine on sales of its Series A-2 
Preferred Stock through the online investment www.startengine.com. 

Operating Lease – Property 1 
On December 29, 2020, the Company signed a 65-month lease for their 173,000 sq ft. 
factory facility, commencing on May 1, 2021. Rents increase by 3% annually. Total rent 
expense for the six months ended December 31, 2021, was $903,214. As of December 31, 
2021, the Company has deferred rent liability of $434,631 due to the straight-lining of rent 
expense. 

Operating Lease – Property 2 
On June 10, 2022, the Company signed a 73-month lease for a 132,960 sq ft warehouse, 
commencing the earlier of (a) 30 days after substantial completion of tenant work by the 
landlord; or (b) tenant commencing operation in the building. The initial base rent is 
$103,709. The base rent will increase 4% every year.   

Related Party Agreements 

Operating Lease 
Boxabl has a verbal agreement, which commenced May 2021, with a related party, Supercar 
System, Inc., to provide office space located at 5345 East North Belt Road, North Las Vegas, 
Nevada 89115 to Supercar System, Inc. The lease is $5,350 per month payable the first 
week of each month. Supercar System, Inc. is controlled by Boxabl’s founder and CEO, 
Paolo Tiramani. The verbal agreement is on a month-to-month basis, therefore can be 
cancelled anytime.  See Item 8 risk factors for more information.  

Intellectual Property License 
Boxabl entered into the exclusive license with Build IP, LLC on June 16, 2020, and amended 
in November 2021. Build IP, LLC is controlled by Boxabl’s founder and CEO, Paolo Tiramani. 
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The license will continue in perpetuity unless terminated by written agreement of Boxabl 
and Build IP, LLC, or by reason of default for (1) failure to pay, (2) failure to perform any 
material obligations under the license, or (3) insolvency of either party. Pursuant to the 
license agreement, Boxabl will pay a license fee of 1% of the net selling price generated 
from the sale of its Boxes to Build IP, LLC. Boxabl has the right to sublicense any of the rights 
and obligations under the exclusive license, which will facilitate our anticipated factory 
franchise business model. 
The following table identifies the patents to which Boxabl has rights through the license 
from Build IP LLC: 
 

 Structure Patents    
     

 TITLE STATUS PATENT NUMBER PATENT DATE 
US Modular Prefabricated House Patented 8,474,194 7/2/2013 
US Modular Prefabricated House Patented 8,733,029 5/27/2014 
CA Modular Prefabricated House Patented 2442403 12/2/2008 

US 

Customizable Transportable 
Structures and Components 
Therefor Patented 10,688,906 6/23/2020 

US 

Customizable Transportable 
Structures and Components 
Therefor Patented 10,829,029 11/10/2020 

US 

Customizable Transportable 
Structures and Components 
Therefor Patented 10,926,689 2/23/2021 

PCT 

Customizable Transportable 
Structures and Components 
Therefor Published WO2019070484A1 04/11/2019 

EU 

Customizable Transportable 
Structures and Components 
Therefor Pending   

CA 

Customizable Transportable 
Structures and Components 
Therefor Patented 3,078,484 7/13/2021 

US 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Patented 11,118,344 9/14/2021 

US 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   
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PCT 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Published WO2012018413A1 02/10/2020 

AU 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   

CA 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   

CN 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   

EU 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   

JP 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   

MX 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   

SA 

Foldable Building Structures with 
Utility Channels and Laminate 
Enclosures Pending   

US 
Enclosure Component Perimeter 
Structures Pending   

PCT 
Enclosure Component Perimeter 
Structures Published WO2020167673 08/20/2020 

CA 
Enclosure Component Perimeter 
Structures Pending   

CN 
Enclosure Component Perimeter 
Structures Pending   

EU 
Enclosure Component Perimeter 
Structures Pending   

JP 
Enclosure Component Perimeter 
Structures Pending   

US 

Equipment and Methods for 
Erecting a Transportable Foldable 
Building Structure Pending   

PCT 

Equipment and Methods for 
Erecting a Transportable Foldable 
Building Structure Published WO2020167674A1 08/20/2020 
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US 
Enclosure Component Sealing 
Systems Pending   

US 
Enclosure Component Edge Seal 
Systems Pending   

US 
Enclosure Component 
Compression Seal Systems Pending   

US 
Enclosure Component Shear Seal 
Systems Pending   

PCT 
Enclosure Component Sealing 
Systems Pending   

US Folding Beam Systems Pending   
US Foldable Transportable Buildings Pending   

US 
Sheet/Panel Design for Enclosure 
Component Manufacture Pending   

US 
Sheet/Panel Design for Enclosure 
Component Manufacture Pending   

US Wall Component Appurtenances Pending   
     
 Transport Patents    

US 
Wheeled Assembly for Item 
Transport Patented 11,007,921 5/18/2021 

PCT 
Wheeled Assembly for Item 
Transport Published WO2019070485A1 04/11/2019 

Europe 
Wheeled Assembly for Item 
Transport Pending   

Canada 
Wheeled Assembly for Item 
Transport Allowed CA3078486C 11/02/2021 

     
 Facility Patent    

US 
Enclosure Component Fabrication 
Facility Pending   
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Item 3 Interest of Directors, Management, Promoters and Principal Holders 

3.1 Compensation and Securities Held 
Table 3.1 

Name and 
municipality 
of principal 
residence 

Positions held 
and date 
obtained 

Compensation paid 
by issuer or related 
party in most 
recently completed 
fiscal year and 
anticipated to be 
paid this fiscal year 

Number, type, and 
percentage of securities held 

after: (1) 

Minimum 
Offering (2) 

Maximum 
Offering (3) 

Paolo 
Tiramani (4) 

Las Vegas, 
NV  

Chief 
Executive 
Officer, 
Director, 
Boxabl (2017 - 
present) 

Previous: $794,439 
Expected: $800,000 

2,213,750,000 
Common 
Stock  
(53%) 

2,213,750,000 
Common 
Stock  
(49%) 

Galiano 
Tiramani (5) 

Las Vegas, 
NV 

Director, 
Boxabl (2017 - 
present) 

Previous: $794,438 
Expected: $800,000 

773,750,000 
Common 
Stock 
(19%) 

773,750,000 
Common 
Stock  
(17%) 

(1) Percentage ownership described reflects all securities. Common Stock issued are the only voting 
class of securities in all outstanding share capital. See Table 4.1 for additional information regarding 
the currently authorized and outstanding share capital and the pro forma share capital as a result of 
this Offering. 

(2) Based on a total amount of 4,166,210,827 shares outstanding as of the date hereof. 

(3) Based on the maximum Offering of $300,000,000 worth of Series A-2 Preferred Stock at a price of 
$0.80 per share for a total of 375,000,000 new Series-A-2 Preferred Stock under this Offering. 

(4) Paolo Tiramani 2020 Family Gift Trust owns 1,087,800,000 Common Stock of the 2,213,750,000 
total Common Stock described above.  

(5) Galiano Tiramani 2020 Family Gift Trust owns 397,800,000 Common Stock of the 773,750,000 total 
Common Stock described above. 

 

3.2 Management Experience of Directors and Executive Officers 
Table 3.2 

Name Principal occupation in last 5 years and related experience 

Paolo 
Tiramani  

An industrial designer and mechanical engineer, Paolo has over 85 patent 
filings.  Paolo founded Boxabl in 2017 and has funded Boxabl to date through 
his intellectual property investment company 500 Group Inc., which has been 
in operation since 1986.  Paolo also founded Supercar System in 2014. Paolo 
moved operations to Las Vegas two years ago for its strategic location, 
business and tax climate to develop the Boxabl project into an operating 
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company. 

Galiano 
Tiramani  

Galiano is a serial entrepreneur who has founded several start-ups. Notably, 
a cryptocurrency exchange and bitcoin ATM network that was founded in 2014 
and later sold. He also operated a large green cultivation and processing 
facility in California before moving to Las Vegas to pursue Boxabl full-time. 
Galiano holds a bachelor's degree in business. 

3.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

None of the Issuer’s directors, executive officers, or control persons, or issuers of which 
they were a director, executive, officer, or control person at the time, has been at any time 
during the last 10 years:  

a) subject to any penalty or sanction, 

b) subject to any cease trading order in effect for more than 30 consecutive days, or  

c) the subject of any declaration of bankruptcy, voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, 
proposal under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangement 
or compromise with creditors or appointment of a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee to hold assets. 

3.4 Loans  

The Company does not have any outstanding loans to or from any person described in Table 
3.1 as of the date of this offering memorandum.  

Item 4 Capital Structure 

4.1 Share Capital 
Table 4.1 

Descripti
on of 

security (5) 

Number 
authorized to 

be issued 

Price 
per 

security 
(1) 

Number 
outstanding 

as of February 
17, 2023 

Number 
outstanding 
after min. 
Offering (2) 

Number 
outstanding 
after max. 
Offering  

Common 
Stock 

6,600,000,000 $0.00 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000 3,000,000,000 

Series A 
Preferred 
Stock  

3,400,000,000 
in aggregate 
number of 
preferred 
stock 

$0.014 - 
$0.017 (6) 

194,426,886 194,426,886 194,426,886 

Series A-1 
Preferred 
Stock  

$0.0395-
$0.079 (7) 

848,530,577 848,530,577 848,530,577 

Series A-2 $0.75 - 123,257,740 123,257,740 498,257,740(3)  
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Preferred 
Stock  

$0.80 (8) 

Stock 
Options (4) 

150,000,000 of 
the Company’s 
Common 
Stock 

$0.071-
$0.57 (9) 

78,882,139 78,882,139 78,882,139 

(1) The price per security for Stock Options is the exercise price of the underlying security.  

(2) There is no minimum Offering.  

(3) The Company would issue 375,000,000 Offered Securities under the maximum Offering of 
$300,000,000. 

(4) The number of stock options is inclusive of all options issuable under the Equity Incentive Plan and 
any other options that have been authorized by the Company and do not include any options that may 
be issued upon a closing to maintain any stock option allocation percentage as described in the Plan. 
See Item 2.7 – Material Agreements - Equity Incentive Plan. 

(5) Holders of Series A-2, A-1 and Series A Preferred Stock will have no voting rights on matters put to the 
stockholders for a vote. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Common
Stock held at all meetings of the stockholders and written actions in lieu of meetings, including the 
election of directors. There shall be no cumulative voting for Common Stockholders. Series A-2, A-1 
and Series A Preferred Stock are convertible into Common Stock upon the occurrence of a firm 
underwriting registered offering, the Offered Security will automatically convert into voting Common 
Stock of the Company on a one-to-one basis. 

(6) 161,076,886 Series A Preferred Stock were issued at $0.014 and 33,350,000 were issued at $0.017. 
(7) 108,670,624 Series A-1 Preferred Stock were issued at $0.0395, 129,195,378 were issued at $0.0553, 

91,421,113 were issued at $0.05925, 261,306,405 were issued at $0.0632, 68,097,240 were issued 
at $0.071, 189,098,117 were issued at $0.0711, and 741,700 were issued at $0.079. See Item 4.3 for 
prior sales. 

(8) 7,340,300 Series A-2 Preferred Stock were issued at $0.72, 29,008,400 were issued at $0.76, 
86,909,040 were issued at $0.80. 

(9) 64,250,470 stock options have an exercise price of $0.071 and 14,631,669 have an exercise price of 
$0.57. 

4.2 Long Term Debt Securities 

The Company does not have any outstanding loans as of the date of this Offering 
memorandum.  
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4.3 Prior Sales of the Preferred Stock (or securities convertible into Preferred 
Stock) in the Last 12 Months 

Table 4.3 
 

Date of issuance 
Type of 
security 
issued 

Number of 
securities 

issued 

Price per 
security 

Total funds 
received 

February 2022 (1), (2), 

(3) 
Convertible 
Note 

5,000,000 $1 $5,000,000 

February 2022 
Series A-1 
Preferred Stock 

214,184 $0.05925 $12,690 

February 2022 (2), (3) 
Convertible 
Note 

626,400 $1 $626,400 

February 2022 (2), (3) 
Convertible 
Note 

571,000 $1 $571,000 

February 2022  
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

2,709,300 $0.76 $2,059,068 

February 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

556,700 $0.72 $400,824 

March 2022 (2), (4) 
Convertible 
Note 

125,849 $1 $125,849 

March 2022 (2), (4) 
Convertible 
Note 

200,493 $1 $200,493 

March 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,116,600 $0.76 $848,616 

March 2022  
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

416,700 $0.72 $300,024 

April 2022 (2), (5) 
Convertible 
Note 

412,000 $1 $412,000 
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April 2022 (2), (5) 
Convertible 
Note 

2,970,983 $1 $2,970,983  

April 2022 (2), (5)  
Convertible 
Note 

10,000 $1 $10,000 

April 2022  
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

23,480,298 $0.80 $18,784,238 

April 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

2,569,101 $0.76 $1,952,517 

April 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

841,700 $0.72 $606,024 

April 2022 
Series A-1 
Preferred Stock 

168,776 $0.05925 $10,000 

April 2022 
Series A-1 
Preferred Stock 

521,150 $0.071 $37,002 

May 2022 
Series A 
Preferred Stock 

628,800 $0.014 $8,803 

May 2022 (2), (6) 
Convertible 
Note 

100,000 $1 $100,000 

May 2022 
Series A-1 
Preferred Stock 

443,100 $0.079 $35,005 

May 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

6,238,700 $0.80 $4,990,960 

May 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

3,208,200 $0.76 $2,438,232 

May 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

556,700 $0.72 $400,824 
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June 2022 
Series A 
Preferred Stock 

142,900 $0.014 $2,001 

June 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

10,316,005 $0.80 $8,252,804 

June 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,237,800 $0.76 $940,728 

June 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

694,500 $0.72 $500,040 

July 2022 
Series A-1 
Preferred Stock 

45,400 $0.079 $3,587 

July 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

6,653,348 $0.80 $5,322,678 

July 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,140,000 $0.76 $866,400 

July 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

277,800 $0.72 $200,016 

August 2022 
Series A 
Preferred Stock 

971,600 $0.014 $13,602 

August 2022 
Series A-1 
Preferred Stock 

253,200 $0.079 $20,003 

August 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

19,883,926 $0.80 $15,907,141 

August 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

2,992,400 $0.76 $2,274,224 

August 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

983,400 $0.72 $708,048 
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September 2022 
Series A 
Preferred Stock 

3,598,600 $0.014 $50,380 

September 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

14,132,023 $0.80 $11,305,618 

September 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

6,370,800 $0.76 $4,841,808 

September 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,762,600 $0.72 $1,269,072 

October 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

2,090,167 $0.80 $1,672,134 

October 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,403,500 $0.76 $1,066,660 

October 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

138,900 $0.72 $100,008 

November 2022 
Series A 
Preferred Stock 

571,700 $0.014 $8,004 

November 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,296,100 $0.80 $1,036,880 

November 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,683,100 $0.76 $1,279,156 

November 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

138,900 $0.72 $100,008 

December 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

22,300 $0.80 $17,840 

December 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,745,800 $0.76 $1,326,808 
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December 2022 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

486,200 $0.72 $350,064 

January 2023 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

1,869,079 $0.80 $1,495,263 

January 2023 
Series A-2 
Preferred Stock 

505,800 $0.76 $384,408 

 
(1) The convertible note discussed in Item 2.7 was issued February 2022 and subsequently 

converted on April 1, 2022, for 18,335,852 Series A-1 Preferred Stock at $0.0553 per share, 
inclusive of $13,973 interest accrued on the outstanding principal amount. 

(2) From February to May 2022, the Company issued convertible notes with a 10% simple 
interest accrued on the outstanding principal amount calculated on the basis of a 365-day 
year and automatic conversion pursuant to a Regulation A qualified financing.  Prior sales as 
per the table in Item 4.3 outline the initial convertible note issuance. The convertible notes 
were subsequently converted into Series A-1 Preferred Stock, including $3,975 total interest 
accrued on the principal amount owing, as the company issued and sold Series A-1 
Preferred Stock to investors pursuant to the Regulation A offering in the United States which 
commenced on April 1, 2022, and concluded on August 1, 2022. The convertible notes were 
converted at a discount based on the following schedule : (i) holders who acquired at least
$10,000 had their convertible notes convert at 90% of the per share price in the Regulation 
A financing; (ii) holders who acquired at least $100,000 had their convertible notes convert 
at 80% of the per share price in the Regulation A financing; (iii) holders who acquired at least 
$1,000,000 had their convertible notes convert at 70% of the per share price in the 
Regulation A financing.  

(3) 91,758,528 Series A-1 Preferred Stock were issued at $0.0533 (inclusive of the 18,335,832 
Series A-1 Preferred Stock described in note 1 above), 10,038,946 Series A-1 Preferred Stock 
were issued at $0.0632, 8,147,433 Series A-1 Preferred Stock were issued at $0.0711 as a 
result of an automatic conversion of the convertible notes issued in February 2022 pursuant 
to the Regulation A offering in the United States.  

(4) 1,770,033 Series A-1 Preferred Stock were issued at $0.0711 and 3,172,360 were issued at 
$0.0632 as a result of an automatic conversion of the convertible notes issued in March 
2022 pursuant to the Regulation A offering in the United States. 

(5) 5,794,655 Series A-1 Preferred Stock were issued at $0.0711, 47,009,225 Series A-1 
Preferred Stock were issued at $0.0632, and 168,776 Series A-1 Preferred Stock were issued 
at $0.05925 as a result of an automatic conversion of the convertible notes issued in April 
2022 pursuant to the Regulation A offering in the United States. 

(6) 1,582,278 Series A-1 Preferred Stock were issued at $0.0632 as a result of an automatic 
conversion of the convertible notes issued in May 2022 pursuant to the Regulation A offering 
in the United States. 
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Item 5 Securities Offered 

5.1 Terms of Securities 

The following is a summary of some of the material terms of the Offered Securities. All rights 
and restrictions, other than those prescribed by Nevada state law, for the authorized share 
capital of the Issuer are set forth in the Issuer’s Articles of Incorporation, Stockholders 
Agreement, Bylaws, and Voting Trust Agreement. 

Voting Rights 
Holders of the Offered Securities (being Series A-2 Preferred Stock) will have no voting rights 
on matters put to the stockholders for a vote.  

To the fullest extent permitted under the NRS and other applicable law, the holders of 
Preferred Stock shall not be entitled to vote on any matter submitted to the stockholders of 
the Corporation for a vote, including, without limitation, any voting right otherwise afforded 
to the holders of Preferred Stock under NRS 78.2055, NRS 78.207 or NRS 78.390, which are 
denied per the  third amended and restated articles of incorporation of Boxabl Inc, dated 
November 19, 2021. 

In addition to the Offered Securities being non-voting securities under the constating 
documents of the Issuer, at the Issuer’s discretion, subscribers under this Offering 
Memorandum are to execute and deliver the Voting Trust Agreement to the Issuer. In 
accordance with the terms of the Voting Trust Agreement, the subscribers under this 
Offering Memorandum will, concurrently with the closing of the Offering under this Offering 
Memorandum, deposit their securities into the trust created by the Voting Trust Agreement 
and transfer the legal ownership of their securities to the Voting Trustee, whereby the 
trustee will hold such securities on trust for such subscribers and will have the legal right to 
vote such securities in accordance with the Voting Trust Agreement. Subscribers will 
maintain all the beneficial and commercial rights afforded to them otherwise (such as any 
distribution upon sale or payment of dividends, as may be applicable). 

Conversion Rights 
Upon the occurrence of a firm underwriting registered offering, the Offered Security will 
automatically convert into voting Common Stock of the Company on a one-to-one basis. 

Dividend Rights 
Subject to the rights of the holders any shares of the Issuer having rights or privileges 
superior to the Offered Securities with respect to priority in the payment of dividends, each 
holder shall be entitled to receive dividends as declared at the sole discretion of the 
directors of the Issuer. 
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Dissolution Rights 
In any event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Company, after payment to all creditors of the Company, the remaining assets of the 
Company available for distribution to its stockholders will be distributed first among the 
holders of Series A-2, A-1 and Series A Preferred Stock together, and then to the holders of 
Common Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock, Series A-1 Preferred Stock and Series A-2 
Preferred stock include a preferred liquidation preference (a “Preferred Payment”). The 
Series A Preferred Stock issued separately in our offerings in the United States under 
“Regulation Crowdfunding” and “Regulation D” under applicable securities laws in the 
United States, include a Preferred Payment in an amount equal to $0.017 per share held 
(following the 10-for-1 forward split which occurred on November 19, 2021 (the “Split”)). 
This Preferred Payment represents a bonus to those holders of Series A Preferred Stock, as 
they paid the equivalent of $0.014, or $0.017 per share and are eligible for a Preferred 
Payment of $0.017 per share. The Preferred Payment for the Series A-1 Preferred Stock is 
$0.079 per share for Series A-1 Preferred Stock issued at $0.079, $0.0395, $0.0553, 
$0.05925, $0.0632, $0.071 and $0.0711. This Preferred Payment represents a bonus to 
those holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock who paid the equivalent of $0.0395, $0.0553, 
$0.05925, $0.0632, $0.071 and $0.0711 per share and are eligible for a Preferred Payment 
of $0.079 per share. The Split will not impact the Series A-2 Stock in this Offering and the 
Series A-2 Stock (being the Offered Securities) are entitled to a Preferred Payment of $0.80 
per share, which is equal to the per share price in this Offering.  Investors in Series A-2 Stock 
from prior offerings who paid less than $0.80 per share, pursuant to the $0.72 and $0.76 per 
share issuances as described in Item 4.6, will, if receiving a Preferred Payment, also receive 
a bonus represented by the difference in their purchase price from the Preferred Payment 
amount of $0.80.    

If there are insufficient assets for the Preferred Payment, then the holders of the Series A-2, 
A-1 and Series A Preferred Stock will receive their pro rata share of available assets upon 
liquidation of the Company. By way of example, if in the event of liquidation the Company 
were only to have distributable assets of $0.50 for every dollar invested by the preferred 
stockholders, each holder of Series A Preferred Stock would receive $0.0085 per share held, 
the Series A-1 Preferred Stock holders would receive $0.0395 per share held, the Series A-
2 Preferred Stock holders (including those holders issued Offered Securities pursuant to 
this Offering) would receive $0.40 per share held, and the holders of Common Stock would 
receive nothing. 

Transferability  
Securities in the capital of the Issuer are subject to resale restrictions contained in the 
securities legislation applicable to the Issuer, the purchaser and any proposed transferee, 
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as well as restrictions and conditions as set forth in the Issuer’s Stockholders Agreement, 
Articles, and Bylaws. For further information see  

Pre-emptive Rights 
None.  

Stockholders Agreement 

All holders of the Company’s Common Stock, Series A-2 Preferred Stock (including the 
Offered Securities pursuant this Offering), Series  A-1 Preferred Stock and Series A Preferred 
Stock will be subject to our Stockholders Agreement. The following summary is qualified in 
its entirety by the terms and conditions of the Stockholders Agreement itself. 

Directors and Management of the Company 

The Stockholders Agreement provides for control of the Board by Paolo Tiramani and 
Galiano Tiramani. The Stockholder Agreement further provides for supermajority approval 
of the voting holders of Common Stock of the Company for the Company to undertake 
specified actions. 

Restriction on Transfer 

Holders of the Common Stock, Series A-2  Preferred Stock (including the Offered Securities 
pursuant this Offering ), Series A-1 Preferred Stock and Series A Preferred Stock are 
restricted from transferring their shares, except under limited circumstance following 
approval of the Board. The purpose of this provision is to grant a measure of control to the 
Board to ensure that any transfer does not result in ownership interests by competitors of 
the Company or would create significant burdens or obligations for the Company to comply 
with federal or state laws. For any transfer approved by the Board of Directors, the 
transferee will be required to become party to the Stockholders Agreement as well. 

Release of Obligations Upon Transfer 

As the Stockholders Agreement applies to senior management of the Company as well as 
investors in this Offering, it includes obligations that may not be applicable to all investors 
because of their circumstances. For instance, the Stockholders Agreement includes a 
requirement to maintain the confidentiality of non-public information about the Company. 
However, an investor in this Offering would likely only have access to public information, 
and never encounter an instance in which the investor would incur any liability to the 
Company for sharing of such information. Other provisions, like the representation about 
the capacity or authority to enter into the Stockholders Agreement, if breached by the 
investor, may require corrective actions to be taken, which create liability to the Company 
by the investor. Further, as noted above, the Stockholders Agreement includes certain 
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restrictions on transfer which must be complied with, otherwise corrective actions would 
need to be taken, creating a liability to the Company by the investor.  

That said, investors will only be subject to the provisions of the Stockholders Agreement 
while holding the shares of the Company. Should an investor transfer of all the shares held 
by the investor, in compliance with the Stockholders Agreement, the investor will have no 
further obligations under the Stockholders Agreement and not be liable to the Company for 
any action that may be considered a breach of the Stockholders Agreement.  

Termination of Stockholders Agreement 

The Stockholders Agreement will terminate upon the earliest of (1) the consummation of an 
initial public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement; (2) a merger or 
business combination resulting in the Company being traded on a national securities 
exchange; (3) the date that there are no holders of the Company’s equity securities; (4) 
dissolution or winding up of the Company; or (5) by unanimous agreement of the 
stockholders of the Company. 

Forum Selection Provision  

The Stockholders Agreement requires that any suit or action based on contract or tort, or 
otherwise to enforce any provision of the Stockholders Agreement be brought in the Eighth 
Judicial District Court of Clark County, Nevada. If the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark 
County does not have jurisdiction, then the matter may be adjudicated in another state 
district court in the State of Nevada, or in federal court located within the State of Nevada. 
Although we believe the provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the 
application of Nevada law in the types of lawsuits that may be brought to enforce 
contractual rights and obligations under the Stockholders Agreement and in limiting our 
litigation costs, to the extent it is enforceable, the forum selection provision may limit 
investors’ ability to bring claims in judicial forums that they find favorable to such disputes 
and may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. The Company has adopted the 
provision to limit the time and expense incurred by its management to challenge any such 
claims. As a Company with a small management team, this provision allows its officers to 
not lose a significant amount of time travelling to any particular forum so they may continue 
to focus on operations of the Company. Section 22 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the 
“Securities Act”), as amended creates concurrent jurisdiction for U.S federal and state 
courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or 
the rules and regulations thereunder. We believe that the exclusive forum provision applies 
to claims arising under the Securities Act, but there is uncertainty as to whether a court 
would enforce such a provision in this context. Section 27 of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 (the “Exchange Act”) creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to 
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enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations 
thereunder.  As a result, the exclusive forum provision may not be used to bring actions in 
state courts for suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or 
any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.  Investors will not 
be deemed to have waived the Company’s compliance with the federal securities laws and 
the rules and regulations thereunder. 

Jury Trial Waiver  

The Stockholders Agreement also provides that investors waive the right to a jury trial of any 
claim they may have against us arising out of or relating to the Stockholders Agreement, 
including any claim under federal securities laws.  By investing in this Offering, the investor 
knowingly and voluntarily waives his or her jury trial rights. If we opposed a jury trial demand 
based on the waiver, a court would determine whether the waiver was enforceable given 
the facts and circumstances of that case in accordance with applicable case law. In 
addition, by agreeing to the provision, investors will not be deemed to have waived the 
Company’s compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations 
promulgated thereunder.  

Spousal Consent 

The Company requires that a married investor provide a spousal consent to the 
Stockholders Agreement. A spousal consent is important to the Company because in the 
event of dissolution of a marriage, or death of the investor with the spouse inheriting the 
securities in this Offering, the spouse taking possession of the shares will be bound by the 
terms of the Stockholders Agreement, providing certainty to the Company for the 
enforcement of the agreement. The Company requires that the spousal consent be 
provided to the Company within 15 days of confirmation of an investment in the Company. 
While, non-receipt of a spousal consent when necessary may result in equitable remedies 
pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement, it is not a condition of the investment or being a 
stockholder of the Company. 

5.2 Subscription Procedure 

(a) The Offered Securities must be purchased via the Deal Page accessible at 
www.frontfundr.com/boxabl. Prospective purchasers must register and create a free 
account with FrontFundr, including completing all required personal and financial 
information as may be required by FrontFundr in accordance with its obligations under 
applicable securities legislation as an exempt market dealer. Payment for the aggregate 
Offered Securities (the “Subscription Amount”) must be delivered to FrontFundr by the 
subscriber through (i) direct debit, (ii) USD direct deposit, (iii) USD wire transfer or (iv) 
USD cheque. Specific account information and other required payment information will 
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be provided once the subscriber has completed the necessary subscription 
documentation, as described in 5.2 (c) below.  

(b) The Subscription Amount will be held in trust by FrontFundr for each subscriber for two 
business days, during which period the subscriber can rescind and cancel their offer to 
purchase the Offered Securities and receive a full refund of the Subscription Amount, 
without interest.  

(c) The Company intends to conduct closes on a rolling basis (each, a “Closing”). The 
Company reserves the right to close this Offering at any time. Other than the proceeding 
items required from each prospective purchaser, the forms of such which will be 
provided to the prospective purchaser by FrontFundr through the Deal Page’s 
subscription process, duly executed and delivered as applicable, there are no 
conditions, third-party or otherwise, to the Closing of the Offering. 

i. Subscription Agreement; 

ii. An accession agreement to the Stockholders Agreement; 

iii. A certificate acknowledging receipt and review of this Offering Memorandum; 

iv. An instrument of accession to the Voting Trust Agreement, unless waived at 
the Issuer’s sole discretion; 

v. Form 45-106F9 Risk Acknowledgement; 

vi. For individual subscribers resident in Alberta, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, 
Ontario, or Saskatchewan, Form 45-106F4 includes Schedule 1 
(Classification of Investors Under the Offering Memorandum Exemption) and 
Schedule 2 (Investment Limits for Investors Under the Offering Memorandum 
Exemption);  

vii. For individual subscribers resident in Manitoba, a certificate of eligible 
investor; 

viii. Payment in the aggregate amount of the Subscription Amount in one of the 
methods described in 5.2 (a) above; and  

ix. Such other supporting documentation that the Issuer, its agent or counsel 
may request to establish the subscriber’s qualification to purchase the 
securities under a prospectus exemption.  
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Item 6 Income Tax Consequences and RRSP Eligibility 

6.1 You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the income 
tax consequences that apply to you. 

6.2 The Offered Securities are non-voting preferred shares in the authorized capital of 
the Company. The Company does not anticipate, but provides no assurance, that 
there are any significant income tax consequences to the purchase thereof. See 
Items Error! Reference source not found. and 6.3.  

6.3 Not all securities are eligible for investment in a registered retirement savings plan 
(RRSP). You should consult your own professional advisers to obtain advice on the 
RRSP eligibility of these securities. 

Item 7 Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders 

As of the date hereof, the Company has only engaged FrontFundr as a dealer of Offered 
Securities in Canada under this Offering Memorandum and section 2.9 of NI 45-106. 
Pursuant to the Agency Agreement described in Item 2.7, the following compensation is 
owed thereto:  

(a) Cash fees: CDN$9,500 has been paid for due diligence and other listing services; 
CDN$5,000 has been paid for the drafting and preparation of certain Offering materials; 
and up to CDN$1,750 may be paid for selected Closing services. 

(b) Cash commissions: Upon each Closing, subject to certain exceptions in the Agency 
Agreement, a trade fee equal to five percent (5%) of the Subscription Amount processed 
by FrontFundr. 

(c) Broker warrants or agent options: None. 

(d) Non-cash commission: None. 

Item 8 Risk Factors 

An investment in the Offered Securities of the Issuer involves a substantial degree of risk 
and is highly speculative due to the nature of the Issuer’s business. As a result, investors 
should consider investing in the Offered Securities only if they can afford to lose their entire 
investment. Investors should carefully consider the risks described below and the other 
information contained in this Offering Memorandum before making a decision to buy the 
Offered Securities.  

There are certain risks inherent in an investment in the Offered Securities and in the 
activities of the Issuer, which investors should carefully consider before investing in the 
Offered Securities. The following is a summary only of some of the risk factors. The Issuer 
advises prospective purchasers to carefully read all disclosed risks and disclaimers in this 
Offering Document and applicable agreements or documents in their entirety and consider 
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and review the risks relating to the Issuer and the Offered Securities with a legal and 
financial advisor. 

The Issuer advises that prospective purchasers should consult with their own independent 
professional legal, tax, investment and financial advisors before purchasing the Offered 
Securities in order to determine the appropriateness of this investment in relation to their 
financial and investment objectives and in relation to the tax consequences of any such 
investment.  

In addition to the factors set forth elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum, prospective 
purchasers should consider the following risks before purchasing the Offered Securities. 
Any or all of these risks, or other as yet unidentified risks, may have a material adverse effect 
on the Issuer’s business, and/or the return to the purchasers. Prospective purchasers are 
cautioned that: 

(a) the order of risk factors in this Item 8 does not mean that a given risk is less likely to 
occur or cause less of a material adverse effect on the Issuer or its business (i.e., all 
risks may be equal and have an equal detrimental effect); 

(b) the risk factors identified herein and as otherwise identified are not a definitive list of 
all risk factors associated with an investment in the Offered Securities; and 

(c) you, the purchaser, may lose your entire investment. 

The risk factors outlined below are not a definitive list of all risk factors associated 
with an investment in the securities offered hereunder and investors are cautioned 
that they may lose their entire investment. 

(a) Investment Risks 

Management Discretion of the Use of Proceeds – The proceeds from this Offering are 
intended as described in this Offering Memorandum, however, we reserve the right to use 
the proceeds for any general business purposes and such other purposes not presently 
contemplated which we deem be in the best interests of the Issuer and our shareholders. 
As a result of the foregoing, our success may be substantially dependent upon the 
discretion and judgment of our management with respect to application and allocation of 
the net proceeds of the Offering. Purchasers will be entrusting their investment to our 
management, upon whose judgment and discretion, the purchaser must depend. 

Investors may be Diluted Without Recourse – Purchasers may experience dilution or 
reduction of their ownership interest. In order to achieve the long-term goals and short-term 
goals as defined in Item 2.4 and 2.5, the Issuer will have to raise significant capital, as 
outlined in Item 1.1. As a result of the proposed maximum Offering, investors may 
experience dilution, including shares which may be offered at a lower price than this 
Offering.  The issuance of convertible securities, stock options or warrants may have a 

Doc ID: 04ae909544cde485cd05e8482719cb73f923d4d3



 

30 

dilutive effect on the interests of the new purchasers of the securities. In the event we 
require additional equity financing after the completion of this Offering, purchasers may 
experience further dilution. 

Purchasers Can Lose All of their Investment – No assurance can be given that purchasers 
will realize a profit on their investment. Moreover, investors may lose some or all their 
investment. A return on the investment, including a return of an investor’s original 
investment, is not guaranteed and is based upon many performance assumptions, 
including business expenses and market conditions. Only potential purchasers who are 
experienced in investments that involve significant risk and who may afford to lose their 
entire investment should consider an investment in the Offered Securities. 

Restrictions on Transfers; No Public Market for the Securities – There is presently no public 
market for the Offered Securities, and none is expected to develop in the foreseeable future. 
The securities are subject to substantial restrictions on transfer under securities laws and 
our constating documents including the Stockholders Agreement. Accordingly, the 
securities may not be resold or otherwise transferred, except in accordance with such laws 
and documents. See Item 10 and the definitive Subscription Agreement for additional 
information. 

Tax Matters – The return on investment for all purchasers are subject to changes in 
Canadian federal and provincial tax laws, as well as any other tax laws applicable to the 
holder or Company. There can be no assurance that the tax laws will not be changed in a 
manner which will fundamentally alter the tax consequences to investors of holding or 
disposing of the securities. 

Value of Securities may be Arbitrary – The price per Offered Security of the Issuer is 
determined by management and may not bear any relationship to earnings, book value or 
other valuation criteria.  

Securities are Speculative and High Risk – The Offered Securities are highly speculative and 
an investment in such securities involves a high degree of risk. Due to the nature of our 
business and the present stage of development of its business, we are subject to significant 
risks. Our actual operating results may be very different from those expected and described 
in this document. 

This Offering is being conducted on a best-efforts basis with no minimum value of Offered 
Securities to be sold - The Offered Securities are being offered on a best-efforts basis. 
Further, no aggregate minimum is required for the Company to receive funds from investors. 
Any funds invested will be sent directly to the Company, or deposited in an escrow account 
and will become immediately available to the Company upon acceptance of the investor’s 
Subscription Agreement. 
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Any valuation at this stage is difficult to assess - The valuation for this Offering was 
established by the Company based on the best estimates of management and is not based 
on historical financial results. Unlike listed companies that are valued publicly through 
market-driven stock prices, the valuation of private companies, especially early-stage 
companies, is difficult to assess and you may risk overpaying for your investment. 

We include projections of future plans and performance in this Offering Memorandum and 
our Offering page. Projections rely on the occurrence of stated assumptions and should not 
assumptions not be correct or not occur, then the stated projections may be inaccurate - 
We include projected timelines in our “Plan of Operations” and include projected cost 
comparisons on our Offering page. Those projections will only be achieved if the 
assumptions they are based on are correct. There are many reasons why the assumptions 
could be inaccurate, including customer acceptance, competition, general economic 
conditions, and our own inability to execute our plans. Potential investors should take the 
assumptions into consideration when reading those projections and consider whether they 
think they are reasonable. 

You will not have a significant influence on the management of the Company - Even after 
selling the securities in this Offering, the day-to-day management, as well as big-picture 
decisions will be made exclusively by our executive officers and directors. You will have a 
very limited ability, if at all, to vote on issues of company management and will not have the 
right or power to take part in the management of the Company and will not be represented 
on the Board. Accordingly, no person should purchase our stock unless he or she is willing 
to entrust all aspects of management to our executive officers and directors.  

We expect to raise additional capital through equity and/or debt offerings to support our 
working capital requirements and operating losses - In order to fund future growth and 
development, we will likely need to raise additional funds in the future through offering 
equity or debt that converts into equity, which would dilute the ownership percentage of 
investors in this Offering. See “Recent Offerings of Securities.”  Furthermore, if we raise 
capital through debt, the holders of our debt would have priority over holders of equity, 
including the holders of our shares, and we may be required to accept terms that restrict 
our ability to incur more debt. We cannot assure you that the necessary funds will be 
available on a timely basis, on favorable terms, or at all, or that such funds if raised, would 
be sufficient. The level and timing of future expenditures will depend on a number of factors, 
many of which are outside our control. If we are not able to obtain additional capital on 
acceptable terms, or at all, we may be forced to curtail or abandon our growth plans, which 
could adversely impact our business, development, financial condition, operating results 
or prospects. 
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By executing the Subscription Agreement in this Offering, investors will join as Stockholders 
under our Stockholders Agreement - The Company has established a Stockholders 
Agreement between itself, Paolo Tiramani, Galiano Tiramani, and each new stockholder to 
the Company. The agreement provides for among, other items, control of the directorships 
of the Company by Paolo Tiramani and Galiano Tiramani, and restrictions on the transfer of 
the securities in this Offering. As such, this agreement places contractual restrictions on 
the ability of investors to exercise rights traditionally associated with equity ownership in a 
company.  For instance, an investor would not be able to resell or otherwise dispose of their 
shares in the Company without complying with Article III of the Stockholders Agreement, 
which establishes certain permitted transfers, and transfers that must be approved by the 
Board. 

Investors should carefully review the terms of the Stockholders Agreement, as well as the 
summary discussion included under “Item 5: Securities Offered” and be certain they are 
willing to accept the contractual terms of the Stockholders Agreement limiting their ability 
to exercise full control of their shares. In addition to the forum selection provisions and jury 
trial waiver described below, for further emphasis the Company is highlighting the following 
risks associated with the Stockholders Agreement: 

The Stockholders Agreement places limitations on the transferability of our securities - 
Pursuant to Article III of the Stockholders Agreement, investors will not be allowed to 
transfer shares acquired in this Offering, except under limited circumstances following 
approval of the Board. Investors should note that these restrictions on transferability are in 
addition to any restrictions provided by statute or regulation. This means that investors will 
not be able to dispose of their shares of their own volition without satisfying the 
requirements of the Stockholders Agreement. 

The Stockholders Agreement ensures that the Company will be controlled by Paolo 
Tiramani and Galiano Tiramani while the agreement is in place - Under the Stockholders 
Agreement, each of Paolo Tiramani and Galiano Tiramani have the sole right to appoint one 
director, as well as jointly appoint a third director. No other stockholder currently has any 
right to appoint directors to the Board. This means that investors will have no control over 
the management of the Company or policy setting role of the Board. Instead, investors must 
rely on the efforts of Paolo Tiramani and Galiano Tiramani. 

Investors who are married may be required to deliver a spousal consent to the Stockholders 
Agreement - The Company may require that a married investor provide a spousal consent 
to the Stockholders Agreement. A spousal consent is important to the Company because 
in the event of dissolution of a marriage, or death of the investor with the spouse inheriting 
the securities in this Offering, the spouse taking possession of the shares will be bound by 
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the terms of the Stockholders Agreement, providing certainty to the Company for the 
enforcement of the agreement. The Company may require that the spousal consent be 
provided to the Company within 15 days of confirmation of an investment in the Company. 
While non-receipt of a spousal consent, when necessary, may result in equitable remedies 
pursuant to the Stockholders Agreement, it is not a condition of the investment or being a 
stockholder of the Company. This means that investors whose shares are transferred by 
reason of dissolution of marriage or death of the investor may be in breach of the 
Stockholders Agreement if no spousal consent was provided to the Company. 

Investors in this Offering may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to claims arising 
under the Subscription Agreement or Stockholders Agreement, which could result in less 
favorable outcomes to the plaintiff(s) in any action under these agreements - Investors in 
this Offering will be bound by the Subscription Agreement and Stockholders Agreement, 
both of which include a provision under which investors waive the right to a jury trial of any 
claim they may have against the Company arising out of or relating to these agreements. By 
signing these agreements, the investor warrants that the investor has reviewed this waiver 
with his or her legal counsel, and knowingly and voluntarily waives the investor’s jury trial 
rights following consultation with the investor’s legal counsel.  

If we opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, a court would determine whether 
the waiver was enforceable based on the facts and circumstances of that case in 
accordance with the applicable state and federal law. To our knowledge, the enforceability 
of a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver in connection with claims arising under federal 
securities laws has not been finally adjudicated by a federal court. However, we believe that 
a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision is generally enforceable, including 
under the laws of the State of Nevada, which governs the Subscription Agreement. In 
determining whether to enforce a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision, courts 
will generally consider whether the visibility of the jury trial waiver provision within the 
agreement is sufficiently prominent such that a party knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily 
waived the right to a jury trial. We believe that this is the case with respect to the 
Subscription Agreement. You should consult legal counsel regarding the jury waiver 
provision before entering into the Subscription Agreement.   

If you bring a claim against the Company in connection with matters arising under the 
Subscription Agreement or Stockholders Agreement, including claims under federal 
securities laws, you may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to those claims, which 
may have the effect of limiting and discouraging lawsuits against us. If a lawsuit is brought 
against us under one of these agreements, it may be heard only by a judge or justice of the 
applicable trial court, which would be conducted according to different civil procedures and 
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may result in different outcomes than a trial by jury would have had, including results that 
could be less favorable to the plaintiff(s) in such an action.   

Nevertheless, if this jury trial waiver provision is not permitted by applicable law, an action 
could proceed under the terms of the Subscription Agreement or Stockholders Agreement 
with a jury trial. No condition, stipulation, or provision of the Subscription Agreement or 
Stockholders Agreement serves as a waiver by any holder of our shares or by us of 
compliance with any substantive provision of the federal securities laws and the rules and 
regulations promulgated under those laws.  

Our Articles of Incorporation, Stockholders Agreement, and Subscription Agreement each 
include a forum selection provision, which could result in less favorable outcomes for the 
plaintiff(s) in any action against our company.  

Articles of Incorporation - Our Articles of Incorporation includes a forum selection provision 
that requires any claims against us by stockholders involving, with limited exceptions: 
 

• brought in the name or right of the Company or on its behalf; 
• asserting a claim for breach of any fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, 

employee or agent of the Company to the Company or the Company’s 
stockholders; 

• arising or asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of Chapters 78 or 
92A of the Nevada Revised Statutes or any provision of these Articles of 
Incorporation (including any Preferred Stock designation) or the bylaws; 

• to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of these Articles of 
Incorporation (including any Preferred Stock designation) or the bylaws; or 

• asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. 

Any of the above actions are required to be brought in the Eighth Judicial District Court of 
Clark County, Nevada.  If the Eighth Juridical District Court of Clark County does not have 
jurisdiction, then the matter may be adjudicated in another state district court in the State 
of Nevada, or in federal court located within the State of Nevada. This forum selection 
provision may limit investors’ ability to bring claims in judicial forums that they find 
favorable to such disputes and may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Note, 
this provision does not apply to any suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by 
the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act, as amended, or to any claim for which the federal 
courts have exclusive jurisdiction. 

Stockholders Agreement - Our Stockholders Agreement includes a forum selection 
provision that requires any suit, action, or proceeding based in contract or tort arising from 
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the Stockholders Agreement be brought in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark County, 
Nevada. If the Eighth Juridical District Court of Clark County does not have jurisdiction, then 
the matter may be adjudicated in another state district court in the State of Nevada, or in 
federal court located within the State of Nevada. This forum selection provision may limit 
investors’ ability to bring claims in judicial forums that they find favorable to such disputes 
and may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Section 22 of the Securities Act 
creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce 
any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. 
We believe that the exclusive forum provision applies to claims arising under the Securities 
Act, but there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such a provision in this 
context. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits 
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and 
regulations thereunder.  As a result, the exclusive forum provision may not be used to bring 
actions in state courts for suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the 
Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive 
jurisdiction.  Investors will not be deemed to have waived the Company’s compliance with 
the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. 

Subscription Agreement - Our Subscription Agreement includes a forum selection provision 
that requires any suit, action, or proceeding arising from the Subscription Agreement be 
brought in a state of federal court of competent jurisdiction located within the State of 
Nevada. This forum selection provision may limit investors’ ability to bring claims in judicial 
forums that they find favorable to such disputes and may discourage lawsuits with respect 
to such claims. Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal 
and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the 
Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. We believe that the exclusive forum 
provision applies to claims arising under the Securities Act, but there is uncertainty as to 
whether a court would enforce such a provision in this context. Section 27 of the Exchange 
Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability 
created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.  As a result, the 
exclusive forum provision may not be used to bring actions in state courts for suits brought 
to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the 
federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.  Investors will not be deemed to have waived the 
Company’s compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations 
thereunder. 
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(b) Issuer Risks 

Development Stage of Business Risks – We have only a limited history upon which an 
evaluation of its prospects and future performance can be made. Our operations are 
subject to all business risks associated with new enterprises and require qualified teams 
and management in order to execute on those plans. The likelihood of our success must be 
considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications, and delays 
frequently encountered in connection with the expansion of a business, operation in a 
competitive industry and the development of a customer base. There is a possibility that we 
could sustain losses into the future and not be able to continue its operations. 

Brand Perception of the Issuer – Our success largely depends on the ability to maintain and 
grow the value of the Company and brands within current and future markets. Maintaining, 
promoting, and positioning our brands and its operating businesses will depend on, among 
other factors, the reliability and usability of our product, measurable improvements for our 
client’s operations, a friendly and approachable brand, and our ability to provide a 
consistent, high-quality user experience for all participants. Brand value is based on 
perceptions of subjective qualities, and any incident that erodes the loyalty of users or 
buyers, including adverse publicity or a governmental investigation or litigation, could 
significantly reduce the value of our brand and adversely affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition. 

Consumer Trends – If consumer demand for our products decreases, our business and 
financial condition would suffer. In addition, sales of our products are subject to evolving 
consumer preferences that we may not be able to accurately predict or respond to. 
Consumer trends could change based on a number of possible factors, including economic 
factors and social trends. A significant shift in consumer demand away from our products 
could reduce sales, which would harm our business and financial condition. 

Disruption at our Facilities – Currently, all of our products are manufactured at our two Las 
Vegas production facilities. A natural disaster, fire, power interruption, work stoppage or 
other calamity at these facilities, or at any future facility at which we produce our products, 
would significantly disrupt our ability to deliver our products and operate our business. If 
any material amount of our machinery or inventory were damaged, we would be unable to 
meet our contractual obligations and cannot predict when, if at all, we could replace or 
repair such machinery, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Failure to Retain Current Customers and/or Recruit New Customers – Our success, and our 
ability to increase revenue and operate profitably, depends in part on our ability to acquire
new customers and retain existing customers, so that they continue to purchase the 
Issuer's products. We may fail to acquire or retain customers across our distribution 
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channels due to negative value and quality perceptions, a lack of new and relevant products 
or failure to deliver customers' orders in a timely manner. 

Further Need for Debt or Equity Financing – We may have to sell additional securities 
including further equity securities and convertible securities, the effect of which will result 
in a dilution of the equity interests of any existing shareholders. We may also need to raise 
capital by incurring long term or short-term indebtedness to fund our business objectives. 
Security holders are cautioned that there can be no assurance as to the terms of such 
financing and whether such financing will be available. The level of indebtedness could 
impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future on a timely basis to take 
advantage of business opportunities that may arise, as well, the associated interest 
payments could limit the free cash flow available for investment and allocation towards 
growth initiatives and regular business operations. Further debt and equity financing may 
result in enhanced reporting obligations. Increased reporting obligations may increase the 
administrative cost and burden of the Company, resulting in a negative impact on our 
business operations. 

If we cannot raise sufficient funds, we will not succeed - We are offering shares of our Series 
A-2 Preferred Stock to raise up to $300,000,000 in this Offering. Even if the maximum 
amount is raised, we are likely to need additional funds in the future in order to continue to 
grow, and if we cannot raise those funds for whatever reason, including reasons relating to 
the Company itself or to the broader economy, the Company may not survive. 

We are dependent upon our ability to receive debt financing and fully draw down our 
potential future debt financing, which may restrict our ability to conduct our business - Our 
plan for manufacturing the Boxes and for developing our Mega Facility depends on our 
ability to receive financing sufficient enough to meet the anticipated costs of our long-term 
objectives per Item 2.4. We are anticipating applying for a loan, as described in Item 1.1.  
There is no assurance this loan will move past the application stages. If the loan is 
approved, we anticipate the need to fully draw down on the potential loan facility. We may 
not, however, access all of these funds at once, but only over a period through periodic 
draws as eligible costs are incurred. Our ability to draw down these potential funds may be 
conditioned upon several draw conditions, including the potential achievement of progress 
milestones relating to the design and development of the Mega Facility, including any 
positive covenants, such as completed and approved facility assessments. Additionally, we 
anticipate the loan facility, if accepted, will require us to comply with certain operating 
covenants and will place additional restrictions on our ability to operate our business. We 
are unaccustomed to managing our business with such restrictions and others that are 
associated with a significant credit agreement. If we are unable to draw down the 
anticipated funds under the potential loan facility, or our ability to make such draw downs 
is delayed, we may need to obtain additional or alternative financing to operate our facilities 
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to the extent our cash on hand is insufficient. Any failure to obtain the loan or secure other 
alternative funding could materially and adversely affect our business and prospects. Such 
additional or alternative financing may not be available on attractive terms, if at all, and 
could be more costly for us to obtain. As a result, our plans for building our Boxes and Mega 
Facility could be significantly delayed which would adversely affect our business, 
prospects, financial condition, and operating results. 

Going-concern risks – The Company’s auditor has issued a “going concern” opinion on the 
Company’s financial statements. The Company incurred a net loss of $13,584,157 for the 
year ended December 31, 2021, and $1,162,792 for year ended December 31, 2020, and 
has limited revenues, which creates substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a 
going concern. 

Mega Facility size and completion risks - There is no assurance that Boxabl will be able to 
finalize the Mega Facility at all or to the described square footage and size it intends. A 
smaller manufacturing facility than anticipated poses several risks, including reduced 
production capacity, increased production costs per unit, competitive disadvantages, and 
negative market perceptions. A smaller manufacturing facility may have limited production 
capacity, which could lead to reduced output and sales. This could impact the Company's 
ability to meet market demand and generate profits, potentially resulting in a decrease in 
the Company’s value. A smaller manufacturing facility may not benefit from economies of 
scale, leading to higher production costs per unit. This could result in lower profit margins 
and potentially reduced shareholder returns. If the Company's competitors build larger, 
more efficient manufacturing facilities, the Company may struggle to compete in terms of 
price and quality. This could result in lower sales and reduced market share. If the Company 
creates a smaller manufacturing facility than anticipated, this could result in a lower ability 
to execute its business plan. This could lead to negative perception among investors, 
potentially resulting in reduced interest in the Company’s potential future financing rounds. 
Overall, the anticipated Mega Facility carries significant risks for investors, which should be 
carefully considered before making any investment decisions. 

Inability to License Other Intellectual Property Rights - The technology we use may require 
the use of other existing technologies and processes, which are currently, or in the future, 
will be, subject to patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets or other intellectual 
property rights held by other parties, in which case we will need to obtain one or more 
licenses to use those other technologies. If we are unable to obtain licenses, on reasonable 
commercial terms, from the holders of such other intellectual property rights, it could be 
required to halt development and manufacturing or redesign our technology, failing which 
it could bear a substantial risk of litigation for misuse of the other technologies. In any such 
event, our business and operations could be materially adversely affected.  
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Intellectual Property Management and Protection – The future success of our business is 
highly dependent upon the intellectual property  
rights surrounding our technology and brand, including patents, licenses, trademarks, 
designs, copyright, trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological innovation. 
Although we will seek to protect our proprietary rights through available means, those 
actions may be inadequate to protect any proprietary rights or to prevent others from 
claiming violations of their proprietary rights. We also rely in part on trade secrets to protect 
our technology, and our failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely 
affect our competitive business position. Our strategy for commercialization may require 
us to share confidential and proprietary information with our strategic partners and other 
third parties. Any efforts by us to protect these trade secrets or any other intellectual 
property through litigation may be expensive, time consuming and with an uncertain 
outcome, as courts in certain jurisdictions vary in their willingness to protect trade secrets. 
There can be no assurance that other companies are not investigating or developing other 
technologies that are similar to the technology. In addition, effective intellectual property 
protection may be unenforceable or limited in certain countries, and the global nature of 
the Internet makes it impossible to control the ultimate designation of our technology. Any 
of these claims, with or without merit, could subject us to costly litigation. If the protection 
of proprietary rights is inadequate to prevent unauthorized use or appropriation by third 
parties, the value of our brand and other intangible assets may be diminished. Any of these 
events could have an adverse effect on our business and financial results. 

Inability to Manage the Potential Growth of the Business – We may not be able to effectively 
manage our growth, and any failure to do so may have an adverse effect on our business 
and operating results. We have received substantial interest in our Casita units and will 
strive to meet that demand. This will require significant scaling up of operations, including 
acquiring additional facilities space, and skilled labor. To date, we have limited experience 
manufacturing our products at a commercial scale. If we are unable to effectively manage 
our scaling up in operations, we could face unanticipated slowdowns and problems and 
costs that harm our ability to meet production demands. 

Litigation Risk – We may be subject to litigation arising out of its operations. Damages 
claimed under such litigation may be material, and the outcome of such litigation may 
materially impact our operations, and the value of the shares. While we will assess the 
merits of any lawsuits and defend such lawsuits accordingly, we may be required to incur 
significant expense or devote significant financial resources to such defenses. In addition, 
the adverse publicity surrounding such claims may have a material adverse effect on our 
operations. On November 19, 2021, a former employee filed a compliant against the 
company and its executive officers and directors in the Eighth Judicial District Court of Clark 
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County, Nevada, claiming breach of contract and wrongful termination. The company 
denies the merit of the allegations. 

On January 23, 2023, The Department of Housing in and for the State of Arizona sent a 
citation and complaint claiming that Boxabl, was in violation of several Arizona laws and 
codes. These violations included failure to obtain necessary permits, not submitting 
compliance assurance documents, lack of proper certification for the manufacturing 
facility, and knowingly violating laws and rules.  On February 9, 2023, Boxabl requested that 
the citation be dismissed, but if not, Boxabl requests an evidentiary hearing to present the 
case.  If Boxabl is not able to obtain a positive outcome to resolve a complaint, there could 
be various risks and material impacts that may affect the company. Some potential 
examples include the following: reputational damage, legal action, regulatory scrutiny, 
financial impacts, and operational impacts. Additionally, a negative outcome could make it 
more difficult for Boxabl to secure financing or investment in the future.  The various risks 
and material impacts may result in lower revenue and market share, financial penalties, 
legal fees, potential litigation that could be costly and time-consuming, potential 
restrictions on business operations,  refunds, returns, or other forms of compensation to 
the customer, and a negative outcome to the complaint may require Boxabl to make 
changes to its business practices, processes, or products which could be time-consuming 
and costly which could impact the Company’s ability to deliver on its commitments to other 
customers. It is important for Boxabl to prioritize resolving complaints in a timely and 
effective manner to minimize the risks and impacts described above. We know of no other 
material existing or pending legal proceedings against us, nor are we involved as a plaintiff 
in any proceeding or pending litigation. There are no proceedings in which any of our 
directors, officers or any of their respective affiliates, or any beneficial stockholder, is an 
adverse party or has a material interest adverse to our interest. 

Legal Proceedings – In the normal course of business, we may become party to legal 
action.  There can be no assurance that we will be successful in defending these claims 
and legal actions or that any claim or legal action that is decided adverse to us will not 
materially and adversely affect our profitability, results of operations and financial 
condition.  

Verbal Agreement for Related Party Lease – Boxabl has a verbal agreement with a related 
party, Supercar System, Inc., to provide office space located at 5345 East North Belt Road, 
North Las Vegas,Nevada 89115 to Boxabl. on a month-to-month basis. Supercar System, 
Inc. is controlled by Boxabl’s founder and CEO, Paolo Tiramani. Refer to Item 2.7 for more 
details. As the contract has not been formalized through a written formal commercial 
contract, there is a risk of unknowingly misunderstanding the material terms of the intended 
contract. Verbal communication and agreements between related parties may be subject 
to misinterpretation and lack of proper documentation, increasing the risk of potential 
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disputes or non-compliance with contractual obligations. The verbal agreement poses the 
risk of breaching unclear terms which may result in detrimental effects to Boxabl, including 
adverse impacts affecting our operations and financial condition.  

Reliance on Current Management and Ability to Retain and Attract New Employees – Our 
future success is dependent on the continued service of our senior management and in 
particular our founder and Chief Executive Officer Paolo Tiramani. Any loss of key 
members of our executive team could have a negative impact on our ability to manage and 
grow our business effectively. This is particularly true of our Founder and Chief Executive 
Officer Paolo Tiramani, who designed and patented our core intellectual property. The 
experience, technical skills and commercial relationships of our key personnel provide us 
with a competitive advantage, particularly as we are building our brand recognition and 
reputation. 

Income Taxes – The Issuer’s activities will generally be taxable in the jurisdictions in which 
it operates. Changes to taxation laws in any State could materially affect the business.  No 
assurance can be given that new taxation rules will not be enacted or that existing rules will 
not be applied in a manner that could materially affect in the Issuer’s profits and it may 
result in a material adverse effect on the Issuer’s profitability, results of operations and 
financial condition.   

Interest Rate Risk – The Issuer may hold both cash and loans payable with variable interest 
rates as well as loans receivable, loans payable, or other form of debt securities. These 
interest-bearing financial instruments pose risks with any changes in market interest rates 
over the period in which they are held. 

Limitation of Insurance – We maintain insurance policies, covering usual and customary 
risks associated with its business.  A large-scale manufacturer is generally exposed to the 
risks inherent in the construction and operation of manufacturing facilities, such as 
breakdowns, manufacturing defects, natural disasters, theft, terrorist attacks and 
sabotage. We rely on our own insurance policies to cover losses as a result of force 
majeure, natural disasters, terrorist attacks or sabotage, among other things. While we 
perform a review of insurance policies, a significant uninsured loss or a loss that 
significantly exceeds the limits of such insurance policies or the failure to renew such 
insurance policies on similar or favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our 
operations and ability to continue as a going concern.   

History of Losses and Negative Operating Cash Flow –The Company has realized significant 
operating losses to date and expects to incur losses in the future. The Company has 
operated at a loss since inception, and these losses are likely to continue. Boxabl’s net loss 
for 2020, as reflected in its audited financial statements, was $1,162,792, and its net loss 
for 2019 was $707,547. As we increased activity in 2021, our net loss for 2021 increased to 
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$13,584,157. Through 3rd quarter 2022, our net loss was $39,394,664 due to increased 
production and capital requirements. Until the Company achieves profitability, it will have 
to seek other sources of capital in order to continue operations. 

No History of Dividends or Plan to Pay Dividends – The Issuer has never paid a dividend nor 
made a distribution on any of their securities. Further, the Issuer may never achieve a level 
of profitability that would permit payment of dividends or other forms of distribution to its 
shareholders. Given the stage of the Issuer’s business, it will likely be a long period before 
the Issuer could be in a position to declare dividends or make distributions to its investors. 
The payment of any future dividends by the Issuer will be at the sole discretion of the 
Issuer’s management. Holders of eligible shares will be entitled to receive dividends only 
when, as, and if, declared by the Issuer’s Board.  

Failure to Retain Current Customers and Recruit New Customers – In order for us to 
maintain our success and increase revenue and operate profitably, we need to acquire and 
retain partners and customers, so that they continue to purchase, market, and use our 
products and services. We may fail to acquire or retain customers across our distribution 
channels due to negative value and quality perceptions, market competition, a lack of new 
and relevant products, or failure to deliver customers’ orders in a timely manner. Reputation 
Risk – As a new entrant in the highly competitive home construction market, our ability to 
successfully grow our business is highly dependent on the reputation we establish for 
quality and reliability. To date, we have built a positive reputation based on our 
demonstration products for trade shows and conferences. As we expand operations to 
selling Boxes, we will need to deliver on the quality and reliability that is expected of us. If 
potential customers create a negative association about our brand, whether warranted or 
not, our business could be harmed. Real or perceived quality or concerns or failures to 
comply with any applicable regulations and requirements, whether or not ultimately based 
on fact and whether or not involving the Company or similar business, could cause negative 
publicity and reduced confidence in us and our products, which could cause harm to the 
Issuer’s brand, reputation, and sales, and could materially adversely affect business, 
financial condition, and results of operations. The growing use of social and digital media 
increases the speed and extent that information or misinformation and opinions can be 
shared. Negative publicity about us, the brand, or our products on social or digital media 
could seriously damage our reputation. Without a favorable perception of the brand and 
products, our sales and profits could be negatively impacted. 

Payment Processing Risk – We receive payments for our products and services using a 
variety of different payment methods, including credit and debit cards. We rely on systems 
of third parties to process payment. Acceptance and processing of these payment methods 
are subject to certain rules and regulations and require payment of interchange and other 
fees. To the extent there are disruptions in payment processing systems, increases in 
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payment processing fees, material changes in the payment ecosystem, such as large re-
issuances of payment cards, delays in receiving payments from payment processors, or 
changes to rules or regulations concerning payment processing, our revenue, operating 
expenses, and results of operation could be adversely impacted. If these third parties 
become unwilling or unable to continue processing payments on behalf of our affiliates or 
partners, it would have to find alternative methods of collecting payments, which could 
adversely impact user acquisition and retention.    

Negative Public or Community Response – Negative public or community response to our 
plans could adversely affect the ability of the owners and operators to operate the business. 
This type of negative response could lead to legal, public relations and other challenges that 
impede the ability of the Company to achieve commercial operations and generate 
revenues at the anticipated levels.  An increase in opposition could have a material adverse 
effect on our profitability, results of operation and financial condition.   

Additional engineering is required for our manufacturing facility to begin production as the 
scale necessary to make the business viable - A portion of the proceeds from this Offering 
will be used to further outfit our initial manufacturing space, and second facility in the Las 
Vegas area for our Boxes and to refine the manufacturing process. Our business relies on 
being able to produce our Boxes at scale, which can only be done once we refined our 
manufacturing process for specialization of functions. If we are not able to refine our 
processes to achieve production at scale, our financial results may be negatively impacted. 

We have accepted deposits for a product we are not yet able to produce at scale - As of the 
date of this Offering Memorandum, we have accepted deposits ranging for $100, $200, 
$1,200 or $5,000 from approximately 8,000+ prospective customers as of December 20, 
2022. These deposits are being recorded as liabilities of the Company and have not been 
maintained in a segregated account. As such, if the Company is not able to deliver the 
requested product, we will be obligated to return the deposit, whether funds are available 
or not. If the prospective purchaser merely decides to not purchase a Box once they are 
available, they will forfeit their deposit. 

Conflicts of Interest May Occur – We can not assure that our management or directors will 
not have conflicts of interest from time to time. Any of those persons may now or in the 
future serve in similar roles or capacities of other companies or have significant 
shareholdings in other companies and, to the extent that such other companies may 
participate in ventures in which we may participate, that person may have a conflict of 
interest in negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. In 
the event that such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of our directors, a director who 
has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against any resolution involving any such 
conflict. In accordance with the NRS, our directors are required to act honestly, in good faith 
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and in the best interests of the Issuer. In determining whether or not we will participate in 
any particular undertaking at any given time, the directors will primarily consider the upside 
potential for the undertaking to be accretive to our shareholders, the degree of risk to which 
the business may be exposed and our financial position at that time.  

Inability to Collect our Amounts Owed to Us – As part of our regular business operations, we 
will facilitate and fulfill orders/purchases on a credit or invoice basis. The customers 
receiving these effective advances may not meet financing criteria for conventional lending 
from institutional lenders. As a result, these advances and loans are generally riskier and 
carry a high credit risk. Failure to receive, or requirement to collect, the amounts owed to 
us thereunder may result in financial losses and expenses which would adversely affect our 
returns and operations. 

If an unknown defect was detected in our Boxes or Box designs, our business would suffer 
and we may not be able to stay in business - In the ordinary course of our business, we could 
be subject to home warranty and construction defect claims. Defect claims may arise a 
significant period of time after a building with our Boxes has been completed. Although we 
maintain general liability insurance that we believe is adequate and may be reimbursed for 
losses by subcontractors that we engage to assemble our homes, an increase in the 
number of warranty and construction defect claims could have a material adverse effect on 
our results of operations. Furthermore, any design defect in our components may require 
us to correct the defect in all of the projects sold up until that time.  Depending on the nature 
of the defect, we may not have the financial resources to do so and would not be able to 
stay in business.  Even a defect that is relatively minor could be extremely costly to correct 
in every home and could impair our ability to operate profitably.   

Product Liability – In the ordinary course of our business, we could be subject to home 
warranty and construction defect claims. Defect claims may arise for a significant period of 
time after a building with our Boxes has been completed. Although we maintain general 
liability insurance that we believe is adequate and may be reimbursed for losses by 
subcontractors that we engage to assemble our homes, an increase in the number of 
warranty and construction defect claims could have a material adverse effect on our results 
of operations. Furthermore, any design defect in our components may require us to correct 
the defect in all of the projects sold up until that time.  Depending on the nature of the 
defect, we may not have the financial resources to do so and would not be able to stay in 
business.  Even a defect that is relatively minor could be extremely costly to correct in every 
home and could impair our ability to operate profitably. 

We will rely on third-party builders to construct our units on site as well as we intend to rely 
on third-party franchisees - The failure of those builders to properly construct homes and 
franchisee manufacturers to properly manufacture our products could damage our 
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reputation, result in costly litigation and materially impact our ability to succeed. We sell 
our units to Boxabl trained and certified builders, who are then responsible for on-site 
building and assembly. Purchasers can also order directly from us, and they will need to 
engage their own builders. We may discover that builders are engaging in improper 
construction practices, negatively impacting the reliability of our units.  Further, we not only 
intend to manufacturer the Boxes at our own factories but also to rely on third-party 
franchisees to manufacture our Boxes. To the extent that we do, we cannot be certain that 
any such franchisees will act in a manner consistent with our standards and requirements 
and produce Boxes in accordance with our quality standards. We may discover that our 
franchisees do not end up operating their franchises in accordance with our standards or 
applicable law.  The occurrence of such events by the builders or franchisees could result 
in liability to us, or reputational damage.   

Delays and Cost Overruns in the Design and Construction of New Facilities or Products – 
Delays and cost over-runs may occur each time we enter into production for a new model, 
as well as in the setup, upgrade, and construction of our facilities so they are capable of 
meeting our assembly and production requirements. Several factors which could cause 
such delays or cost overruns include, without limitation, permitting delays, construction 
pricing escalation, changing engineering and design requirements, the performance of 
contractors, labour disruptions, adverse weather conditions, and the availability of 
financing. Even when complete, a production and assembly plant may not operate as 
planned due to design or manufacturing flaws, which may not all be covered by warranty.  

Effect of Product Innovation – Our growth in part depends on our ability to develop and 
market new products and improvements to our existing products that appeal to consumer 
preferences. The success of our innovation and product development efforts is affected by 
our ability to anticipate changes in consumer preferences, the technical capability of our 
research and development team in developing and testing product prototypes, including 
complying with applicable governmental regulations, the success of our management and 
sales and marketing team in introducing and marketing new products and positive 
acceptance by consumers. Failure to develop and successfully market and sell new 
products, including the products we are currently working to develop, may inhibit our 
growth, sales, and profitability. 

Loss of Information and Data Breaches – Through the use of our application and software, 
we gather certain non-identifiable user information. As such, we are exposed to the legal 
and reputational risk of the loss, misuse, or theft of any such information. Cybersecurity has 
become an increasingly problematic issue for businesses in the United States, Canada and 
around the world. A cyber-attack could compromise confidential information and may 
result in negative consequences, including remediation costs, loss of revenue, regulatory 
scrutiny, litigation, and reputational damage. As a result, we continually monitor for 

Doc ID: 04ae909544cde485cd05e8482719cb73f923d4d3



 

46 

malicious threats and adapt accordingly to ensure we follow industry best practices and 
maintain high privacy and security standards. 

Anti-Spam Legislation Risk – The Issuer may employ a direct marketing strategy using email 
communication. It may acquire email addresses through consumer sign ups, the purchase 
of email distribution lists, organic growth, events, or other means. Emails sent by the Issuer 
are subject to the regulation and anti-spam legislation and similar legislation in other 
jurisdictions that it may be operating in. Violation or other similar legislation may result in 
legal, regulatory and/or financial action taken against the Issuer that could have an adverse 
effect in its operations, financial results, or reputation. 
 

(c) Industry Risks 

Macro-economic Sensitivity – The Issuer’s business is subject to the impact of changes in 
global economic conditions including, but not limited to, recessionary or inflationary 
trends, market conditions, consumer credit availability, interest rates, consumers' 
disposable income and spending levels, job security and unemployment, and overall 
consumer confidence. These economic conditions may be further affected by political 
events throughout the world that cause disruptions in the financial markets, either directly 
or indirectly. Adverse economic and political developments could have a material adverse 
effect on the Issuer’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition.  

Supply Chain Management – Insufficient or delayed supply of materials for manufacturing 
and assembling our products threatens our ability to meet customer demands while over 
capacity threatens our ability to generate profit. Any failure by us to properly manage our 
supply chain could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations. As we increase the scale of our operations, we may need to change 
partners and suppliers on a frequent basis to ensure quality control, manage costs, and 
production schedules. Any time we change such partners or suppliers could result in delays 
or other unintended consequences, such an increase in costs and a decrease in quality. As 
a result, any border restriction, delays, or closures may threaten our ability to meet 
customer demands and earn revenues or continue or develop relationships with partners 
and suppliers or potential partners and suppliers. 

Changes and Interruptions in our Supply Chain – The extent of the impact of natural 
disasters, climate events, COVID- 19, war, inflation, and other potential macroeconomic 
events on future periods will depend on future developments, all which are uncertain and 
cannot be predicted, including the duration or any resurgence of the pandemic, government 
responses and health and safety measures or directives put in place by public health
authorities, and sustained pressure on global supply chains causing supply and demand 
imbalances. Limited or disrupted supply of our products, including key raw materials to 
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make these products could have an adverse effect on our business. There is a risk of the 
inability to scale production and manage our supply chain. Overall, the ongoing effects of 
COVID-19 could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, 
financial condition, and cash flows. 

Price of Raw Materials and Commodities – Volatility in commodity prices and product 
shortages may adversely affect our gross margins. Our Boxes contain commodity-priced 
materials. Commodity prices and supply levels affect our costs. For example, steel is a key 
material in our Casita. The price of steel will vary based on the level of supply in the market, 
and demand from other users. Any shortages could adversely affect our ability to produce 
our Boxes and significantly raise our cost of their production. Further, our ability to pass on 
such increases in costs in a timely manner depends on market conditions, and the inability 
to pass along cost increases could result in lower gross margins. Our raw materials consist 
of steel, foams, and plastics, which primarily are sourced from, or dependent on materials 
sourced from domestic vendors who may source their material from overseas. The costs of 
these materials may increase due to increased tariffs or shipping costs or reduced supply 
availability of these materials more generally.  Further, global or local natural disruptions, 
including the COVID-19 pandemic, may impact the supply chain, including limiting work in 
factories producing the materials into useable forms or impacts on the supply chain. 
Disruptions in supply could result in delays in our production line, delaying delivery of 
products. Further, we may not be able to pass through any increased material costs to our 
customers which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to achieve profitability. 
To the extent that we are able to pass through increased costs, it may lessen any 
competitive advantage that we have based on price. 

Competition Risk – The housing industry is highly competitive and many of our competitors 
have greater financial resources than we do.  Increased competition may make it difficult 
for us to operate and grow our business. The housing industry is highly competitive and we 
compete with traditional custom builders, manufactured and modular home builders, and 
other innovative entrants. In addition, we compete with existing homes that are offered for 
sale, which can reduce the interest in new construction. Many of our competitors have 
significantly greater resources than we do, a greater ability to obtain financing and the ability 
to accept more risk than we can prudently manage. If we are unable to compete effectively 
in this environment, we may not be able to continue to operate our business or achieve and 
maintain profitability. 

Consumer Trends - Our business is focused on the development, manufacture, marketing 
and distribution of branded Boxabl products. Consumer demand could change based on a 
number of possible factors. If consumer demand for our products decreases, our business 
and financial condition would suffer. In addition, sales of our industry’s products are 
subject to evolving consumer preferences that we may not be able to accurately predict or 
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respond to. Consumer trends could change based on a number of possible factors, 
including economic factors and social trends. A significant shift in consumer demand away 
from our products could reduce sales, which would harm our business and financial 
condition. 

General Economic Conditions – The financial success of the Issuer may be sensitive to 
adverse changes in general economic conditions in Canada, such as war, terrorist attacks, 
recession, inflation, labour disputes, demographic changes, weather or climate changes, 
unemployment and interest rates. There is no assurance that the Issuer will be successful 
in marketing any of its products, or that the revenues from the sale of such products will be 
significant. Consequently, the Issuer’s revenues may vary by quarter, and the Issuer’s 
operating results may experience fluctuations.  

Competition and Market Risks – If we fail to compete effectively against larger, more 
established companies with greater resources, then our business may suffer. There can be 
no assurance that our current or future products or services and the results of our business 
development efforts will result in products or services that will be viable for any commercial 
applications and, if viable, that potential customers will utilize the products and services 
for the purposes intended. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced 
margins, and loss of market share, any of which could materially and adversely affect our 
business. We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future 
competitors and the failure to do so would harm our business. Our growth in part depends 
on our ability to develop and market new products and ancillary services and improvements 
to our existing services that appeal to consumer preferences. Failure to develop and 
successfully market and sell new products may inhibit our growth, sales, and profitability. 

Government Regulatory Oversight of our Industry – Government regulations may cause 
project delay, increase our expenses, or increase the costs to our customers which could 
have a negative impact on our operations. We are subject to state modular home building 
codes, and projects are subject to permitting processes at the local level.  If we encounter 
difficulties with obtaining state modular home approvals, we could experience increased 
costs in obtaining those approvals. Until state approvals are obtained, we would be limited 
in our ability to access that state market. Further, modular home codes may change over 
time, potentially increasing our costs, which we may not be able to pass on to customers, 
negatively impact our sales and profitability.  

Geopolitical Risk – Occurrence of global events, similar to those in recent years such as 
war, terrorist attacks, natural or environmental disasters, civil instability or political 
protests, market recessions or depressions, epidemics or pandemics, state laws and 
government initiatives including foreclosure and eviction moratoria, market instability, debt 
crises and downgrades, embargoes, tariffs, sanctions, trade barriers, and other 
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governmental trade or market control programs, or any other geopolitical event may result 
in market volatility and may have long-lasting impacts on both the Canadian, United States 
and global financial markets. Additionally, those events, as well as other changes in foreign 
and domestic political and economic conditions, could adversely affect our business and 
financial results, securities markets, interest rates, secondary trading, credit ratings, 
inflation, investor sentiment, and other factors affecting the value of our business. 

Coronavirus-2019 Pandemic – The global COVID-19 pandemic and containment measures 
taken in response to it have adversely impacted our business, results of operations, capital 
spending, business planning, and financial condition, and may continue to do so depending 
on uncertain future developments. 

Global health concerns relating to the COVID-19 outbreak have impacted the 
macroeconomic environment, and the outbreak has significantly increased economic 
uncertainty. The outbreak resulted in governments in countries across the globe 
implementing measures to try to contain the virus, such as travel restrictions, social 
distancing, and restrictions on business operations which have impacted consumers and 
businesses. These measures have adversely impacted and may further impact our 
workforce and operations and the operations of our business partners, customers, 
stakeholders, and suppliers. While some of these measures have eased in certain 
jurisdictions, others have remained in place. The extent to which current health measures 
are removed or new measures are put in place will depend on how the pandemic evolves, 
as well as the progress of the local and global roll-out and acceptance of vaccines. 

The spread of COVID-19 has caused us to modify our business practices (including 
employee travel and work locations), and we may take further actions as required by 
government authorities or that are in the best interests of our employees, clients, and 
business partners. There is no certainty that such measures will be sufficient to mitigate the 
risks posed by the virus or otherwise be satisfactory to government authorities. There are 
no comparable recent events that may provide guidance as to the effect of the spread of 
COVID-19 and a global pandemic, and, as a result, the ultimate impact of COVID-19 or a 
similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and subject to change. The extent to which 
COVID-19 further impacts our business, results of operations, and financial condition will 
depend on future developments, which are uncertain, including, but not limited to, the 
duration and spread of the outbreak, its severity, the actions to contain the virus or treat its 
impact, and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can 
resume. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience 
materially adverse impacts on our business and our result of operations because of its 
global economic impact, including any recession that has occurred or may occur in the 
future. 
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Item 9 Reporting Obligations  

We are not, nor will we be after the completion of this Offering, a “reporting issuer” within 
the meaning of applicable securities legislation in any jurisdiction in Canada and 
accordingly, we are not subject to the continuous disclosure requirements imposed on 
reporting issuers by such legislation. We are obligated to complete and deliver Form 45-
106F1 Report of Exempt Distribution (the “Report”) upon any distribution of securities 
pursuant to a prospectus exemption under corporate or securities legislation and our 
constating documents, we are not required to send shareholders or make available any 
documents on an annual or on-going basis other than: 

• audited financial statements within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the end 
of each financial year and filed on our SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com; 

• Form 45-106F16 – Notice of Use of Proceeds disclosing the use of the aggregate 
gross proceeds raised by us under this Offering until such time as the use of all 
proceeds has been disclosed; 

• in Alberta, New Brunswick, Ontario, Québec, Nova Scotia, and Saskatchewan, we 
will notify purchasers of each of a change in our financial year end by more than 14 
days;  

• and in New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, and Ontario, we will notify purchasers of  
o discontinuation of our business; 
o a change in our industry; or 
o a change of control of the Company. 

We are required to file this Offering Memorandum and all related Offering Memorandum 
marketing materials with our securities regulatory authority and the regulator(s) of each 
purchaser in each jurisdiction we sell our securities. For British Columbia and Ontario, 
Reports are delivered directly to the regulators via their online systems; all other Canadian 
jurisdictions utilize the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR), 
accessible at www.sedar.ca.  

Pursuant to our prior offerings made pursuant to Regulation A, Tier 2, of the U.S. Securities 
Act, we are required to make annual and semi-annual filings with the SEC. We will make 
annual filings on Form 1-K, which will be due by the end of April each year and will include 
audited financial statements for the previous fiscal year. We will make semi-annual filings 
on Form 1-SA, which will be due by September 28 each year, which will include unaudited 
financial statements for the six months to June 30. We will also file a Form 1-U to announce 
important events such as the loss of a senior officer, a change in auditors, or certain types 
of capital raising. We will be required to keep making these reports unless we file a Form 1-
Z to exit the reporting system, which we will only be able to do if we have less than 300 
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shareholders of record and have filed at least one Form 1-K. All these filings will be available 
on the SEC’s EDGAR filing system.  

You should read all the available information before investing. 

Item 10 Resale Restrictions 

These securities will be subject to a number of resale restrictions, including a restriction 
on trading. until the restriction on trading expires, you will not be able to trade the 
securities unless you comply with an exemption from the prospectus and registration 
requirements under securities legislation. 

Restricted period for all purchasers: 

UNLESS PERMITTED UNDER SECURITIES LEGISLATION, YOU CANNOT TRADE 
THE SECURITIES BEFORE THE DATE THAT IS 4 MONTHS AND A DAY AFTER THE 
DATE THE ISSUER BECOMES A REPORTING ISSUER IN ANY PROVINCE OR 
TERRITORY OF CANADA.  

United States restrictions for all purchasers:  

THE OFFERED SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT 
OR ANY STATE OR FOREIGN SECURITIES LAW (THE “ACTS”) AND MAY NOT BE 
TRANSFERRED BY THE HOLDER EXCEPT (A) TO THE CORPORATION, (B) OUTSIDE THE 
UNITED STATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 904 OF REGULATION S  UNDER THE 
SECURITIES ACT, (C) WITHIN THE UNITED STATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH (1) RULE 144A 
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (2) RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR (D) IN ANOTHER 
TRANSACTION THAT DOES NOT REQUIRE REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT 
OR ANY APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, PROVIDED THAT IN THE CASE OF 
TRANSFERS PURSUANT TO (C) OR (D) ABOVE A LEGAL OPINION SATISFACTORY TO THE 
CORPORATION MUST FIRST BE PROVIDED 

For purchasers resident in Manitoba unless permitted under securities legislation, you must 
not trade the securities in Manitoba without the prior written consent of the regulator in 
Manitoba unless 

a) the Issuer has filed a prospectus with the regulator in Manitoba with respect 
to the securities you have purchased and the regulator in Manitoba has 
issued a receipt for that prospectus, or 

b) you have held the securities for at least 12 months. 
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the regulator in Manitoba will consent to your trade if the regulator is of the opinion that 
to do so is not prejudicial to the public interest.  

Item 11 Purchasers’ Rights  

If you purchase these securities, you will have certain rights, some of which are described 
below.  For information about your rights, you should consult a lawyer. 

The following is subject to the express provisions of the securities legislation applicable in 
each of the provinces and territories of Canada and the regulations, rules and policy 
statements thereunder. Purchasers should refer to the securities legislation applicable in 
their province or territory along with the regulations, rules, and policy statements thereunder 
for the complete text of these provisions or should consult with their legal advisor. The rights 
of action described hereafter are in addition to and without derogation from any other right 
or remedy that a purchaser may have at law.   

(1) Two-Day Cancellation Right - You can cancel your agreement to purchase these 
securities.  To do so, you must send a notice to us by midnight on the 2nd business day after 
you sign the agreement to buy the securities. 

(2) Statutory Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation – 

Securities legislation in certain provinces and territories of Canada provides investors in the 
Company with a statutory right of action or damages or rescission in cases where an offering 
memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum) or any amendment thereto contains 
Misrepresentation. As used herein, "Misrepresentation" means: (a) in the case of all 
jurisdictions except Québec, an untrue statement of a material fact, or an omission to state 
a material fact that is required to be stated, or that is necessary to make a statement not 
misleading in the light of the circumstances in which it was made; and (b) in the case of 
Québec, any misleading information on a material fact as well as any omission of a material 
fact. These rights, or notice with respect thereto, must be exercised or delivered, as the case 
may be, by investors within the time limits prescribed and are subject to the defenses and 
limitations contained  under  applicable  securities legislation. 

Investors in Alberta and British Columbia 

If you are a resident of Alberta or British Columbia, and an offering memorandum (such as 
this Offering Memorandum), together with amendments thereto, contains a 
Misrepresentation, you have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities; or 

(b) for damages against the Issuer, every person who was a director of the Issuer at 
the date of the offering memorandum, and every person or company who signed the 
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offering memorandum.  

In Alberta, if you exercise your  right  against  the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the 
securities, you will have no right of action for damages against any of the persons described 
in (b) above.  

In British Columbia, if you exercise your right against the Issuer to cancel your agreement to 
buy the securities, you will have no right of action for damages against the Issuer.  

The statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defenses available to the persons or 
companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defense if you knew of the 
Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. In an action for damages the amount 
recoverable shall not exceed the price at which the securities were offered and the 
defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of such damages that the  defendant  proves 
does not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the 
Misrepresentation.  

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) to (b) above, you must do so within strict 
time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days 
from the day of the transaction. You must commence your action within the earlier of 180 
days of learning of the Misrepresentation and three years from the date of the transaction.  

Investors in Ontario 

If you are a resident of Ontario and there is a Misrepresentation in an offering memorandum 
(such as this Offering Memorandum), together with any amendment to it, under section 
130.1 of the Securities Act(Ontario) you have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities; or 

(b) for damages against the Issuer. 

If you exercise your right against the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities, 
you will have no right of action for damages against the Issuer.  

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons that you 
have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the Misrepresentation 
when you purchased the securities. In an action for damages, the amount recoverable shall 
not exceed the price at which the securities were offered and the defendant will not be liable 
for all or any portion of such damages that the defendant proves does not represent the 
depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the Misrepresentation. If you intend to 
rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. 

You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date of 
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the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of: (i) 180 days after the 
plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or (ii) three years 
after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

Investors in Saskatchewan 

If you are resident in Saskatchewan and an offering memorandum (such as this Offering 
Memorandum), together with any amendments thereto, contains a Misrepresentation, 
subject to certain limitations, you have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities; or 

(b) for damages against: (i) the Issuer, every person who was a director or the 
promoter of the Issuer, at the date the offering memorandum was sent or delivered, 
(ii) every person or company whose consent has been filed respecting the offering of 
securities pursuant to the offering memorandum, but  only with respect to reports, 
opinions or statements that have been made by them,(iii) every person who, or 
company that, in addition to the persons or companies mentioned in clauses (i) and 
(ii), signed the offering memorandum, and (iv)every person who, or company that, 
sells the securities on behalf of the Issuer  under  the  offering memorandum. 

If you exercise your right against the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities, 
you will have no right of action for damages against the Issuer.  

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or 
companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the 
Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. If you intend to rely on the rights 
described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. 

You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date of 
the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. You must commence your action for 
damages within the earlier of: (i) one year after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts 
giving rise to the cause of action; or (ii) six years after the date of the transaction that gave 
rise to the cause of the action. 

Similar rights of action for damages and rescission are provided under the securities 
legislation of Saskatchewan in respect of a Misrepresentation in advertising and sales 
literature disseminated or in case of a verbal Misrepresentation made in connection with an 
offering of securities. 

Investors in Manitoba 

If you are a resident in Manitoba and an offering memorandum (such as this Offering 
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Memorandum), together with any amendments thereto, contains a Misrepresentation, you 
have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities; or 

(b) for damages against the Issuer, every person who was a director of the Issuer at 
the date of the offering memorandum, and every person or company who signed the 
offering memorandum. 

If a Misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference in, or is deemed to 
be incorporated into, the offering memorandum, the Misrepresentation is deemed to be 
contained in the offering memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or 
companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the 
Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. If you intend to rely on the rights 
described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. 

You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date of 
the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action or commence your action for damages 
within the earlier of: (i) 180 days after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise 
to the cause ofaction, or (ii) two years after the day of the transaction that gave rise to the 
cause of action. 

Investors in New Brunswick 

If you are a resident in New Brunswick and an offering memorandum (such as this Offering 
Memorandum), together with any amendments thereto, contains a Misrepresentation, you 
have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities; or 

(b) for damages against the Issuer, every person who was a director of the Issuer at 
the date of the offering memorandum, and every person who signed the offering 
memorandum. 

If you exercise your right against the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities, 
you will have no right of action for damages against the Issuer. 

If a Misrepresentation is contained in a document incorporated by reference in, or is 
deemed to be incorporated into, the offering memorandum, the Misrepresentation is 
deemed to be contained in the offering memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or 
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companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the 
Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. In an action for damages, the 
amount recoverable shall not exceed the price at which the securities were offered and the 
defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of such damages that the defendant proves 
does not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the 
Misrepresentation. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict 
time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days 
after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action or commence your 
action for damages within the earlier of: (i) one year after the plaintiff first had knowledge of 
the facts giving rise to the cause of action, or (ii) six years after the date of the transaction 
that gave rise to the cause of action. 

Similar rights of action for damages and rescission are provided under the securities 
legislation of New Brunswick in respect of a Misrepresentation in advertising and sales 
literature disseminated or in case of a verbal Misrepresentation made in connection with an 
offering of securities. 

Investors in Nova Scotia 

If you are a resident in Nova Scotia and an offering memorandum (such as this Offering 
Memorandum), together with any amendments thereto, contains a Misrepresentation, you 
have a statutory right to sue: 

(a) the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities; or 

(b) for damages against the Issuer, every person who was a director of the Issuer at 
the date of the offering memorandum, and every person who signed the offering 
memorandum. 

If you exercise your right against the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities, 
you will have no right of action for damages against any of the persons described in (b) 
above.  

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons or 
companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if you knew of the 
Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. If you intend to rely on the rights 
described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. 

You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date of 
the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action or commence your action for damages 
within the earlier of: (i) 180 days after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise 
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to the cause of action, or (ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to 
the cause of action.  

The statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defenses available to the persons or 
companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defense if you knew of the 
Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. In an action for damages, the 
amount recoverable shall not exceed the price at which the securities were offered and the 
defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of such damages that the defendant proves 
does not represent the depreciation in value of the securities as a result of the 
Misrepresentation. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) to (b) above, you must do so within strict 
time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days 
from the day of the transaction. You must commence your action for damages within the 
earlier of 180 days of learning of the Misrepresentation and three years from the date of the 
transaction. Furthermore, no action shall be commenced to enforce the right of action 
described in (a) to (b) above unless an action is commenced to enforce that right not later 
than 120 days after the date on which payment was made for the securities or after the date 
on which the initial payment for the securities was made where payments subsequent to 
the initial payment are made pursuant to a contractual commitment assumed prior to, or 
concurrently with, the initial payment. 

Investors in Québec 

If you are a resident of Québec and if there is a Misrepresentation in an offering 
memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum), together with any amendments 
thereto, you have a statutory right to sue or contractual rights in circumstances where the 
Quebec legislation does not provide such rights, as follows: 

(a) the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities; or  

(b) for damages against the Issuer, every person who was acting in the capacity of a 
director or officer of the Issuer at the date of the offering memorandum, any dealer 
under contract to the Issuer, every other person who  signed  the  offering  
memorandum and any expert whose opinion, containing a Misrepresentation, 
appeared, with the expert's consent, in the offering memorandum,  

If you exercise your right against the Issuer to cancel your agreement to buy the securities, 
you will still have a right of action for damages against the Issuer. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the persons that you 

Doc ID: 04ae909544cde485cd05e8482719cb73f923d4d3



 

58 

have a right to sue. In particular, they have a defence if:  

(a) you knew of the Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities; or 

(b) in an action for damages, the person acted prudently and diligently (except in an 
action brought against the Issuer).  

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict 
time limitations. You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within three 
years after the date that you purchased the securities. You must commence your action for 
damages within the earlier of three years after you first had knowledge of the facts giving 
rise to the cause of action and five years after the date of filing the offering memorandum 
with the Autorité des marchés financiers. 

(3) Contractual Rights of Action in the Event of a Misrepresentation 

If the securities legislation of the jurisdiction in which the purchaser is resident does not 
provide purchasers with statutory rights in the event of a misrepresentation in an offering 
memorandum (such as this Offering Memorandum). If there is a misrepresentation in this 
offering memorandum, you have a contractual right to sue the Issuer: 

(a) to cancel your agreement to buy these securities; or 

(b) for damages. 

This contractual right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the 
Misrepresentation.  However, in an action for damages, the amount you may recover will 
not exceed the price that you paid for your securities and will not include any part of the 
damages that the Issuer proves does not represent the depreciation in value of the 
securities resulting from the Misrepresentation. The Issuer has a defence if it proves that 
you knew of the Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict 
time limitations.  You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days 
after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. You must commence your action 
for damages within the earlier of 180 days after learning of the misrepresentation and 3 
years after you signed the agreement to purchase the securities. 

Item 12 Financial Statements 

[Enclosed directly after this page]
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Boxabl Inc. 
Balance Sheet 

(Internally Prepared) 
as of September 30, 2022 

 
 

  September 30, 2022  
ASSETS

Current Assets: 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3)  $   82,299,826  
 Accounts Receivable (Note 3)  - 
 Inventory (Notes 3 and 4)  6,981,609 
 Deposits on Inventory   252,182 
 Prepaids  194,806 
 Deposits in Escrow         2,399,401 
 
  Total Current Assets       92,127,824 
 
Property, Equipment, and Other Assets: 
 Property and Equipment – Net (Notes 3 and 5)  7,022,632 
 Right-of-Use Assets – Net (Notes 3 and 9)  3,874,836 
 Deposits on Equipment (Note 5)  2,422,859 
 Deferred Offering Costs (Note 3)  60,990 
 Security Deposit (Note 9)         1,136,616 
 
  Total Property, Equipment, and Other Assets       14,517,933 
 
  TOTAL ASSETS  $ 106,645,757 
 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Current Liabilities: 
 Accounts Payable  $        883,630 
 Accrued Expenses  212,779 
 Customer Deposits Note 3)  4,180,303 
 Deferred Revenue (Note 9)  1,189,000 
 Lease Liability – Current (Notes 3 and 9)  984,688 
 Other Current Liabilities (Note 6)              46,896 
 
  Total Current Liabilities         7,497,296 
 
Long-Term Liabilities: 
 Lease Liability - Long-Term (Notes 3 and 9)         3,346,319 
 
  Total Notes Payable and Convertible Promissory Notes         3,346,319 
 
  Total Liabilities       10,843,615 
 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9) 
 
Stockholders’ Equity: 
 Series A Preferred Stock $0.00001 par, 250 million shares authorized,    
    194,618,570 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 (Note 8)  2,674,077  
 Series A-1 Preferred Stock $0.00001 par, 1.1 billion shares authorized,  
    854,576,959 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 (Note 8)  66,629,727  
        Series A-2 Preferred Stock $0.00001 par, 1.15 billion shares authorized, 
    109,616,709 shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 (Note 8)  84,123,904  
 Common Stock $0.00001 par, 6.6 billion shares and 425 million shares authorized, 3 billion 
    shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 (Note 8)  300,000 
 Additional Paid-In-Capital (Notes 3 and 8)     1,378,921  
 Accumulated Deficit       (59,304,487) 
 
  Total Stockholders’ Equity        95,802,142 
 
  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   $ 106,645,757 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Statement of Operations 

(Internally Prepared) 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2022 

 
 
 
 

  September 30, 2022  
 

Revenues  $    7,818,746 
 
Cost of Goods Sold      15,747,034 
 
Gross Loss        (7,928,288) 
 
Operating Expenses: 
 General and Administrative   5,444,890  
 Sales and Marketing   5,844,501 
 Research and Development          5,804,096 
 
  Total Operating Expenses        17,093,487 
 
Operating Loss       (25,021,775) 
 
Other Income/(Expense): 
 Interest Expense and Fees       18,766,614 
 
Net Loss    $ (43,788,389) 
 
 
 
Net loss per common share – basic and diluted   ($ 0.00)  
 
Weighted average common shares – basic and diluted   3,000,000,000   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Statement of Changes to Stockholders’ Equity 

(Internally Prepared) 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2022 

 
 
 
 

        
    Additional  Total 
 Series A-2 Preferred Stock Series A-1 Preferred Stock Series A Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Stockholders’ 
 Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit) 
 
Balance as of January 1, 2022   68,097,240 $   4,498,515 188,508,830 $ 2,589,375 3,000,000,000 $ 300,000 $ 1,378,921 $ (15,565,264) $  (6,798,453) 
Forgiveness   - - - -  - - 49,166  49,166 
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock   - - 6,109,740 85,536 - - - -  85,536 
Issuance of Series A-1 Preferred Stock   786,479,719 62,131,916 - - - - - -  62,131,916 
Issuance of Series A-2 Preferred Stock  109,616,709 $ 86,102,038 - - - - - - - -  86,102,038 
Offering Costs - (1,978,134) - (704) -  (834) - - - -  (1,979,672) 
Net Loss                   -                    -                   -                    -                   -                  -                      -               -                  -    (43,788,389)   (43,788,389)  
 
Balance as of September 30, 2022 109,616,709 $ 84,123,904 854,576,959 $ 66,629,727 194,618,570 $ 2,674,077 3,000,000,000 $ 300,000 $ 1,378,921 $ (59,304,487) $ 95,802,142 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Statement of Cash Flows 

(Internally Prepared) 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2022 

 
 
 
 

  September 30, 2022 
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
 Net Loss   $ (43,788,389)  
 Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operations: 
 Depreciation and Amortization   809,705 
 Amortization-Right-of-Use Asset   720,361  
    
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: 
 Accounts Receivable   488,949  
 Deposits on Inventory   606,636 
 Inventory   (2,065,374) 
 Other Current Assets   (75,189) 
 Accounts Payable   (425,542) 
 Deferred Revenue   (4,278,332) 
 Customer Deposits   2,412,879 
 Accrued Liabilities   (30,176) 
 Other Current Liabilities   (39,533) 
 Payment of Lease Liability           (698,821) 
 
  Net Cash Used In Operating Activities      (46,362,826) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
 Purchase of Property and Equipment and Deposits   (4,494,552) 
 Deposits            (611,616) 
 
  Net Cash Used In Investing Activities        (5,106,168) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
 Proceeds From Sale of Preferred Stock      112,353,314   
 
  Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities       112,353,314 
 
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents   60,884,320 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents – Beginning of Year       21,415,506 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents – End of Period   $  82,299,826 
 
 
Supplemental Cash Flow Information: 
Income Tax Paid  $                  - 

 
Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities: 
 Deposits in Escrow  $ 2,399,401  
 Present Value of Payments Under Operating Lease-Right-of-Use Asset and Liability  $ 5,202,605 

 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

NOTE 1- INCORPORATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
Boxabl Inc., is a development stage Nevada (“C”) corporation originally organized as a Nevada limited liability 
company, on December 2, 2017. The corporation converted from a Nevada limited liability company to a Nevada 
corporation on June 16, 2020. The financial statements of Boxabl Inc., (which may be referred to as the “Company”, 
“Boxabl”, “we”, “us” or “our”) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The Company’s headquarters are in 
Las Vegas, Nevada.  
 
Boxabl Inc., (which may refer to its product as “boxes”, “casita”, “ADU” or “Alternative Dwelling Unit”) is in the 
process of building a new type of modular box with the help of modern manufacturing processes. Its product will 
result in superior, higher quality residential and commercial buildings in half the time and half the cost, by resolving 
the problems of labor shortages and using approximately 80% less building material. The Company has also developed 
patented pending shipping technology, which will help it serve large geographic areas from one factory. This 
innovation allows the Company to serve the entire USA and even international markets. 
 
NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN  
 
The Company incurred a net loss (inclusive of convertible notes discount, interest, and fees) of $43,788,389 during 
the nine months ended September 30, 2022 and currently has limited revenues, which creates substantial doubt of its 
ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
The Company expects to obtain funding through debt and equity placement offerings until it consistently achieves 
positive cash flows from operations. The continuing viability of the Company and its ability to continue as a going 
concern is dependent on the Company being successful in its continued efforts in growing its revenue and/or accessing 
additional sources of capital. Management’s plan to address this need includes, (a) continued exercise of tight controls 
to conserve cash, and (b) obtaining additional equity financing. There are no assurances that our plans will be 
successful. See Notes 8 and 10 for additional information and amounts raised regarding the Company’s offerings. 
 
The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is 
unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
NOTE 3-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Presentation 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and are expressed in U.S. 
dollars. The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31.
 
Financials Statements 
Stockholders’ equity section of the Balance Sheet Series A-1 Preferred stock and Common stock shares issued now 
reflects the retroactive carry back of the 1-to-10 stock split. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requires all 
stock figures disclosed on comparative financial statements to retroactively reflect any stock splits. Series A Preferred 
stock, Series A-1 Preferred stock, and Common stock issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2022 has been 
changed to conform to stock split. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience, and various other factors 
that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments 
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of costs and expenses that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The actual results experienced by the Company may differ materially and adversely from the 
Company’s estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the estimates and the actual results, future 
results of operations will be affected. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties  
The Company’s business and operations are sensitive to general business and economic conditions in the U.S. and 
worldwide along with local, state, and federal governmental policy decisions. A host of factors beyond the Company’s 
control could cause fluctuations in these conditions. Adverse conditions may include: recession, downturn or 
otherwise; government policies. These adverse conditions could affect the Company’s financial condition and the 
results of its operations. 
 
On January 20, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a “Public Health Emergency 
of International Concern” and on March 10, 2020, declared it to be a pandemic.  Actions taken around the world to 
help mitigate the spread of the coronavirus include restrictions on travel, and quarantines in certain areas, and forced 
closures for certain types of public places and businesses. The coronavirus and actions taken to mitigate it have had 
and are expected to continue to have an adverse impact on the economic and financial markets of many countries, 
including the geographical area in which the Company operates.  Measures taken by various governments to contain 
the virus have affected economic activity. We have taken a several measures to monitor and mitigate the effects of
COVID-19, such as safety and health measures for our stakeholders and securing the supply of material that are 
essential to our production process. At this stage, the impact on our business and results has not been significant. We 
do expect a reduction in the supply of goods and materials from our foreign suppliers. We will continue to follow the 
various government policies and advice, and, in parallel, we will do our utmost to continue our operations in the best 
and safest way possible without jeopardizing the health of our stakeholders. The COVID-19 Coronavirus caused raised 
prices and supply chain issues that slowed down our production and caused us to have to request a new delivery date 
on the ADS order which was granted. There were no other serious impacts. 
 
Decreased demand in the housing industry would adversely affect our business. Demand for new housing construction 
is tied to the broader economy and factors outside the Company’s control. Should factors such as the COVID-19 
pandemic result in continued loss of general economic activity, we would experience a slower growth rate in demand 
for our Boxes.  
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants as of the measurement date. Applicable accounting guidance provides an established hierarchy for inputs 
used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs 
by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market 
participants would use in valuing the asset or liability and are developed based on market data obtained from sources 
independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the factors 
that market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability.   
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 
 

• Level 1 – Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in 
active markets. 

 
• Level 2 – Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace. 
 
• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity. 
 

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. 
 
Fair-value estimates discussed herein are based upon certain market assumptions and pertinent information available 
to management as of September 30, 2022. The respective carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet financial 
instruments approximated their fair values. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of issuance 
to be cash equivalents. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Account Receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect on balances outstanding at the balance 
sheet date.  The Company uses the allowance method for uncollectable accounts receivable.  The allowance for 
doubtful accounts is based on management’s evaluation of outstanding accounts receivable at balance sheet date. 
 
Inventory 
Inventory consists of raw materials, work in progress, and finished goods and is valued at the lower of cost or net 
realized value with the cost determined using the weighted average method.  Damaged and obsolete inventory are 
valued based on management’s best estimate and any difference charged to expense.   
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of approximately five years. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs, and minor improvements are charged 
to expense as incurred. Major improvements with economic lives greater than one year are capitalized. Leasehold 
improvements will be depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or the estimated useful life. 
 
Long-Lived Assets 
The Company reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.  No impairment charges were 
recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

Revenue Recognition  
The Company adopted International Accounting Standards “IAS 1.117”, Revenue From Contracts with customers and 
its amendments (collectively known as “IFRS 15”) effective January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective 
transition approach applied to all contracts. Therefore, the reported results for the nine months ended September 30, 
2022 reflect the application of IFRS 15. Management determined that there were no retroactive adjustments necessary 
to revenue recognition upon the adoption of the IAS 1.117. In addition, the adoption of the IAS did not have an impact 
on operations and financial statements. The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps: 

 
- Identification of a contract with a customer. 
- Identification of the performance obligations in the contract. 
- Determination of the transaction price. 
- Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
- Recognition of revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied. 
 

Revenues are recognized when performance obligations are satisfied through the transfer of promised goods to the 
Company’s customers. Control transfers upon shipment of product and when the title has been passed to the customers. 
This includes the transfer of legal title, physical possession, the risk and rewards of ownership, and customer 
acceptance. Revenue is recorded net of sales tax collected from customers on behalf of taxing authorities, allowance 
for estimated returns, chargebacks, and markdowns based upon management’s estimates and the Company’s historical 
experience. The Company records a liability for deposits for future products. The liability is relieved, and revenue is 
recognized once the revenue recognition criteria is met.  
 
In September 2020, the Company signed two purchase agreements with a customer to sell 156 Casitas Units for a total 
contract price of $9,245,574. The Company received a progress payment from the customer of $2,346,893 in 
December 2020, $2,275,892 in February 2021, and $2,311,394 in October 2021.  
 
The Company delivered 33 units of Casitas by December 31, 2021.  The Company invoiced the purchaser for 
$1,955,795 as total sales and recorded $488,949 as accounts receivable after applying $1,466,846 of advance payment.  
The Company has delivered the remaining purchase orders of 123 casitas by June 30, 2022 and received the full 
payment for those orders. 
 
The Company has received $4,180,303 in customer deposits as of September 30, 2022.  The amounts are reflected as 
customer deposits as the deposit does not guarantee a sales contract and is tandem to a reservation. The customer can 
request a refund of the deposit until a sale agreement is executed.
 
Cost of Goods Sold 
Cost of goods sold consists primarily of the cost of products used in the production of the Company’s finished
products, shipping, the related labor, and overhead charges associated with that production. For 2020, the cost of goods 
sold incurred more than revenues recorded in connection with the contract are classified as research and development 
as those were determined to be costs associated with improving the Company’s process, in tandem to a prototype. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

In the second half of October 2021, the Company began production of Casitas.  The Company incurred much higher 
production costs due to various factors, including the following: 

• Inefficiencies due to new machinery and newness of product and procedures which required significant 
training of the workforce. 

• In order to catch up with its delivery obligation under the sales contract, the Company hired additional outside 
labor and paid overtime and double time shifts.

• Tight skilled labor market which caused higher labor rate. 
• Supply chain delivery issues which caused the purchase of several items of material from local vendors with 

a substantially higher price. 
• The Company is still undertaking major research and development activities to streamline its production, 

substitute new material, and upgrade its equipment in order to automate its production. 
• The regular one shift production capacity of the factory is two per day.  The actual units produced in the last 

quarter of 2021 was 35 units and only 209 units were produced during the first nine months of 2022 – due to 
the above factors, even with substantial overtime payments. 

 
Advertising and Promotion  
Advertising and promotion are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2022 amounted to approximately $4,875,922, which is included in sales and marketing expense. 
 
Research and Development 
Research and development costs consisting of design, materials, consultants related to prototype and process 
improvements and developments are expensed as incurred. Total research and development costs for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2022 are $5,804,096.  
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash 
and cash equivalents.  Cash and cash equivalents are maintained at high quality financial institutions.  During the 
years, the Company exceeded the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limit.  The Company has not 
experienced any losses with respect to its cash balances.  Based upon assessment of the financial condition of these 
institutions, management believes that the risk of loss of any uninsured amounts is minimal. 
 
Customers: 
In 2021 and 2020, the Company sold to one customer each year.  Account receivable as of December 31, 2021 was 
related to only one customer.  For 2022, the Company finished delivering the product to the 2021 customer and have 
signed purchase orders with two new customers. See Note 10 – Subsequent Events. 
 
Inventory: 
The Company imports a substantial part of its materials from overseas vendors: mainly China.  Consequently, the 
Company’s ability to purchase and the costs of its products are subject to political and economic situations, both in 
the United States and abroad. The Company maintains that the loss of one or more vendors would not have a material 
impact on the Company’s operations as replacements could be identified. 
 
Income Taxes 
The Company was formed as a Limited liability Company in Nevada for which the Company’s policy was to record 
distributions to its members related to the member’s federal and state income taxes that are attributable to the net 
income of the Company. The Company recorded such distributions when they were declared and made to the member. 
Federal and state income tax regulations require that the income or loss of a limited liability Company be included in 
the tax returns of the members; accordingly, there were no liabilities or provisions for income taxes recorded in the 
accompanying financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

On June 16, 2020, the Company converted to a Nevada Corporation. The conversion was tax-free under Internal 
Revenue Code, which is typically defined as a mere change in identity, form, or place of organization. Management 
elected to terminate the LLC election effective June 15, 2020 and the Company will operate for tax purposes as a C 
corporation from that date forward.  
 
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with IFRS 12 Income Taxes. This standard requires the 
Company to use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, whereby deferred tax assets are 
recognized for deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary 
differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their 
tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more 
likely than not that some portion, or all, the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. 
 
Tax positions initially must be recognized in the financial statements when it is more likely than not the position will 
be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Such tax positions initially and subsequently are to be measured 
at the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement 
with the tax authority, assuming full knowledge of the position and relevant facts. 
 
At September 30, 2022, the Company evaluated its net deferred tax assets, which consisted primarily of net operating 
loss carry forwards and determined a full valuation allowance was appropriate. 
 
At December 31, 2021, the Company’s gross net operating loss (“NOL”) carry forward was $12,512,604, which 
originated from losses from June 15, 2020 forward.  NOLs originating in 2020 and subsequent years can be carried 
forward indefinitely.  The difference between the statutory rate of 21% and the effective tax rate is due to a full 
valuation allowance on deferred tax assets and permanent differences due to non-deductible interest expense. 
 
As of September 30, 2022, the Company had no uncertain tax positions that qualify for either recognition or disclosure 
in the financial statements.  The Company will recognize future accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized 
tax benefits in income tax expense if incurred.  The Company’s tax return from 2018 forward is open to federal and 
state tax examination.  As of September 30, 2022, there were no ongoing tax examinations. 
 
Deferred Offering Costs 
Incremental costs directly associated with the offering of securities are deferred and charged against the gross proceeds 
of the offering upon completion. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, costs associated with the 
Company’s offerings totalled $339,839 and $149,800 which are netted against the related proceeds within 
stockholders’ equity (deficit), respectively. The Company had $60,990 of deferred offering costs, included in the non-
current asset section, on the accompanying balance sheets at September 30, 2022 related to its Regulation A offering 
which was launched in 2022. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

Net Loss per Share 
Net earnings or loss per share is computed by dividing net income or loss by the weighted-average number of revised 
shares outstanding during the period, excluding shares subject to redemption or forfeiture. The Company presents 
basic and diluted net earnings or loss per share.  Diluted net earnings or loss per share reflect the actual weighted 
average of common shares issued and outstanding during the period, adjusted for potentially dilutive securities 
outstanding. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss per share if their 
inclusion would be anti-dilutive. As all potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive as of September 30, 2022, diluted 
net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share for each year. As of September 30, 2022, the Company’s 
potentially dilutive instruments were Series A, Series A-1, and Series A-2 preferred stock which are contingently 
convertible. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
The Company uses IFRS 2 Share-based payments in order to record compensation for all stock-based awards, 
including stock options and restricted stock, which are measured at fair value on the date of grant and recognized over 
the associated vesting periods. The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes 
model. The fair value of restricted stock awards is estimated on the date of the grant based on the fair value of the 
Company's underlying common stock. The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock options and 
restricted stock awards on a straight-line basis over the associated service or vesting periods. 
 
Determining the grant date fair value of options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires management 
to make assumptions and judgments. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and, if different assumptions had 
been used, stock-based compensation expense could have been materially different from the amounts recorded. 
 
Leases 
The application of IFRS 16 “Leases” requires significant judgments and certain key estimations to be made including 
identifying whether a contract (or part of a contract) included a lease, determining whether variable payments are in-
substance fixed, establishing whether there are multiple leases in an arrangement, estimating the lease term, 
determining the appropriate rate to discount lease payments, determining whether it is reasonably certain that an 
extension or termination option will be exercised, determining the stand-alone selling price of lease and non-lease 
components, and assessing whether a right-of-use asset is impaired. 
 
Unanticipated changes in these judgments or estimates could affect the identification and determination of the value 
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at initial recognition, as well as the subsequent measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets.  These items could potentially result in changes to amounts reported in the 
consolidated statements of income and consolidated balance sheets in a given period. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board (“Board”) issued IFRS 16 Leases.  The guidance is 
effective on or after January 1, 2019. This IFRS requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
under most operating leases in its balance sheet. The Company adopted IFRS 16, effective January 1, 2021, which 
requires recognition of right of use (“ROU”) and lease liability based on the present value of the future minimum lease 
payments over the lease term.  See Note 9 for additional information. 
 
Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards could have a 
material effect on the accompanying financial statements. As new accounting pronouncements are issued, the 
Company will adopt those that are applicable under the circumstances. 
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NOTE 4 – INVENTORY  
 
As of September 30, 2022, inventory consists of the following: 
 

• Raw Materials  $ 4,201,881 
• Work In Progress  198,552 
• Finished Goods     2,581,176 

 
TOTAL INVENTORY  $ 6,981,609 

 
NOTE 5 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 

The Company’s property and equipment consist of the following amounts for the nine months ended September 30, 
2022: 
  September 30, 2022  
Machinery, Equipment, and Furniture: 
 Balance – January 1  $ 3,525,416  
 Acquisitions During the Year     2,596,592  
 Balance – December 31  6,122,008  
 Less Accumulated Depreciation        (676,940)  
 
Net Machinery, Equipment, and Furniture – September 30, 2022      5,445,068   
  
Leasehold Improvements: 
 Balance – January 1  1,671,686 
 Acquisitions During the Period            8,977  
 Balance – December 31  1,680,663 
 Less Accumulated Depreciation        (335,468)  
 
Net Leasehold Improvements – September 30, 2022      1,345,195 
  
Technology Equipment and Software: 
 Balance – January 1   207,983 
 Acquisition During the Period        117,165  
 Balance – September 30, 2022  325,148 
 Less – Accumulated Depreciation           (92,779)  
 
Net Technology Equipment and Software – September 30, 2022         232,369 
  
Total Net Assets – September 30, 2022   $ 7,022,632 
  
As of September 30, 2022, the Company paid $2,422,859 for deposits on equipment. The total amount is recorded as 
Deposits on Equipment on the balance sheet.   
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, the Company recognized $809,705 in depreciation and 
amortization expenses. 
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NOTE 6 – DEBT 
 

Loan Payable to Officers 
The Company executed a promissory note to the Company’s majority shareholder and CEO subsequent to the year 
ended December 31, 2020, to formalize the terms. The proceeds, for which all were received in 2020, were used for 
operations and manufacturing three casita prototypes. The principal balance outstanding bears a simple interest rate 
at the annual “prime rate” published by the Wall Street Journal (3.25% at December 31, 2020) plus one percent (1.0%). 
Interest shall accrue on the entire principal sum of this promissory note beginning January 1, 2021. The note was paid 
in full in August 2021. 
 
PPP Loan 
In March 2021, the Company obtained a PPP loan in the amount of $49,166. The loan was forgiven in 2022. 
 
Convertible Notes Payable  
On November 17, 2020, the Company commenced an offering of convertible promissory notes pursuant to Rule 506(c) 
Regulation D, seeking to raise up to $50,000,000 of convertible promissory notes. Simple interest will accrue on an 
annual rate of 10.0% per annum. If the Company issues securities, under the anticipated Regulation A offering, the 
convertible promissory notes and accrued interest will automatically convert into shares offered under that offering at 
a conversion price ranging from 50-90% of the per share price paid by the purchasers of such equity securities in the 
offering. The conversion discount rates are based on timing and amount of the convertible promissory notes.  If the 
debt notes have not been previously converted, principle and unpaid accrued interest will be due and payable at March 
31, 2023. A beneficial conversion feature was not recorded as the convertible promissory notes are contingently 
convertible. In addition, costs incurred in connection with obtaining the convertible promissory notes were 
insignificant and recorded as interest expense. Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the total amount of proceeds under 
convertible promissory increased to $44,680,721 due to additional borrowings, an increase of $13,755,546.  
 
As of April 1, 2022, the Company had accrued interest of $910,635 for all outstanding convertible notes for the three 
months ended April 1, 2022.   
 
On April 1, 2022, in connection with the Company’s launch of their Regulation A offering, all convertible promissory 
notes were converted into 785,297,135 Series A-1 Preferred stock, representing $44,851,658 of face value and 
$2,044,430 of accrued interest. The Company is still determining the impact on the financial statements as the 
convertible promissory notes were converted at prices which were significantly lower than similar securities being 
sold at the same time.  
 
NOTE 7 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company has a contract with the majority shareholder and CEO to share certain costs related to office space, 
support staff, and consultancy services. 
 

The Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Build IP LLC, an entity controlled by the Company’s 
majority shareholder and CEO. Under the terms of the agreement, Build IP LLC has agreed to license its structure, 
transport, and trademark patents to the Company. Quarterly royalty payments of 1% are due on royalty-bearing sales. 
As of September 30, 2022, $78,187 has been recorded as royalty expense in the accompanying financial statements 
which is 1% of the sales. 
 

See Note 6 and 8 for additional related party transactions. 
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NOTE 8 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
Preferred and Common Stock  
The Company converted to a C-Corporation in the state of Nevada on June 16, 2020.  In conjunction with the 
conversion, the Company authorized the issuance of 4.25 billion shares of common stock with a par value of $0.00001 
and 750 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.00001.  The Company initially designated all shares 
of preferred stock as “Series A Preferred Stock”, see below for rights and preferences. 
 
On June 16, 2020, 3 billion common shares were issued to the Company’s two stockholders in exchange for their 
membership interests in Boxabl, LLC.  
 
On February 24, 2021, the Company filed an amendment to the articles of incorporation which increased the number 
of authorized preferred shares to 85 million, for which 202,516,980 and 647,483,020 shares (post split effected) were 
designated as Series A Preferred Stock and Series A-1 Preferred Stock, respectively. 

 

On November 19, 2021, the Board of Directors decided to increase the number of shares to the following: 6.6 billion 
shares of Common Stock of $0.00001 par value, 250 million shares of Series A Preferred Stock of $0.00001 par value, 
1.1 billion shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock of $0.00001 par value, 1.15 billion shares of Series A-2 Preferred 
Stock of $0.00001 par value, and 900 million shares of unclassified Preferred Stock of $0.00001 par value. Total of 
increased authorized shares is 10 billion. The balance sheet and notes in this report are reflected retroactively as 
discussed here. 
   
The Series A Preferred Stock has the following preferences: 

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock are not entitled to any voting rights. Shares of Series A preferred stock are 
convertible to common stock on a one for one basis upon the Company’s IPO or upon a Regulation A capital raise. In 
the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, payment shall be 
made to the holders of Series A Preferred Stock before payment is made to any holders of common stock. The 
Company’s Stockholders’ Agreement includes a contractual call right for the majority common stock shareholders to 
repurchase the shares of the investors. If the call right is exercised, investors would be required to sell their shares at 
the fair market price established by an independent valuation service or investment bank. 
 
The Series A-1 Preferred Stock has the following preferences:  
 
Holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock are not entitled to any voting rights. Shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock are 
convertible to common stock on a one for one basis upon the Company’s IPO or upon a Regulation A capital raise. In 
the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, payment shall be 
made to the holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock before payment is made to any holders of common stock. The 
Company’s Stockholders’ Agreement includes a contractual call right for the majority common stock shareholders to 
repurchase the shares of the investors. If the call right is exercised, investors would be required to sell their shares at 
the fair market price established by an independent valuation service or investment bank. 
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The Series A-2 Preferred Stock has the following preferences:  
 
Holders of Series A-2 Preferred Stock are not entitled to any voting rights. Shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock are 
convertible to common stock on a one for one basis upon the Company’s IPO or upon a Regulation A capital raise. In 
the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, payment shall be 
made to the holders of Series A-2 Preferred Stock before payment is made to any holders of common stock. The 
Company’s Stockholders’ Agreement includes a contractual call right for the majority common stock shareholders to 
repurchase the shares of the investors. If the call right is exercised, investors would be required to sell their shares at 
the fair market price established by an independent valuation service or investment bank. 
 
The “Series A Original Issue Price” shall mean $0.017 per share, and the “Series A-1 Original Issue Price” shall mean 
$0.079 per share, in each case subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, 
combination or other similar recapitalization with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock or the Series A-1 Preferred 
Stock, as the case may be.   
 
The Company’s Regulation CF and Regulation D capital raises resulted in net proceeds of $2,022,425 and the issuance 
of 155,158,910 Series A Preferred Stock at $0.014 per share during the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
On December 2, 2020, the Company was offering up to $1,000,000 worth of Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to 
Section 4(a)(2) to investors with established, pre-existing relationships to the Company at a price of $0.017 per share. 
The capital raise resulted in proceeds of $267,000 and the issuance of 15,705,880 Series A Preferred Stock at $0.017 
per share as of December 31, 2020.  The Company received an additional $299,950 in proceeds and the issuance of 
17,644,040 Series A Preferred Stock at $0.017 per share as of December 31, 2021. 
 
On December 13, 2020, the Company engaged a broker dealer to perform administrative and compliance related 
functions in connection with the Company pending Regulation A capital raise of up to $49,500,000. No underwriting 
or placement agent services will be provided. As compensation for the services, the Company has agreed to pay the 
broker dealer a commission equal to 1% of the amount raised in the offering to support the offering on all newly 
invested funds after the issuance of a No Objection Letter by FINRA. 
 
On October 17, 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive placement agency agreement. Under the terms of the 
agreement the Company is to pay 7.5% of the aggregate subscription proceeds for equity sold under the ongoing 
offerings including the pending Regulation A offering. In December 2020, the Company paid $13,000, and was 
recorded in other assets as deferred offering costs in the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2020.   
 
On May 3, 2021, the Company offered up to $3,930,000 in Series A-1 Preferred Stock at $0.071 with a minimum 
target amount of $10,000. 
 
Starting 2022, the Company offered Series A-2 Preferred shares sold for $0.80 under Regulation A and under 
Regulation D in the following brackets - $20,000 - $0.76 $100,000 - $0.72 $1,000,000 - $0.68 $10,000,000 - $0.64 
$100,000,000 - $0.60. 
 
On March 31, 2022, the Company has been qualified to raise up to $68,500,000 pursuant to Regulation A offering.  
On September 14, 2022, the Company has been qualified to sell up to 81,062,500 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock 
at a price of $0.80 per share on a “best effort” basis, as well as 759,493 shares of Series A-1 Preferred at a price of 
$0.079 and 6,428,571 shares of Series A Preferred Stock at a price of $0.014.  The Company has set a minimum of 
$3,000,000 in gross proceeds to be received prior to the occurrence of any closing for Series A-2 Preferred Stock.  As 
of September 30, 2022, the Company has sold 109,616,709 Preferred Series A-2 shares under Regulation A, D, and 
CF offering for $86,102,038.  In addition, the Company has sold 6,109,740 Series A shares for $85,536,000 and 
739,484 Series A-1 shares for $58,419.   
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Stock Incentive Plan 
In 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the 2021 Stock Option Plan which allows for the issuance of 
options to purchase 150,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. During the year ended December 31, the 
Company granted stock options to purchase 81,075,300 shares of Class A common stock, of which 44,226,100 vested 
immediately upon issuance. The remainder vest over a period of 36 months. The fair values of options granted was 
approximately $1,816,140 in the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The options have an exercise price of $0.07 
and expire 10 years from date of issuance.  
 
As of December 31, 2021, there were 68,924,700 shares available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan. 
 
The Company valued the options using the Black-Scholes pricing model on the date of grant using the following 
assumptions: 
 
 Expected life (years) 5 - 6.50 
 Risk-free interest rate 2.0% 
 Expected volatility 39.77% 
 Annual dividend yield 0.0% 
 
Determining the appropriate fair value of stock-based awards requires the input of subjective assumptions, including 
the fair value of the Company's common stock, and for stock options, the expected life of the option, and expected 
stock price volatility. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value its stock option awards. 
The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based awards represent management's best estimates and 
involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management's judgment. As a result, if factors change and 
management uses different assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be materially different for future 
awards. 
 
The Company uses the following inputs when valuating stock-based awards. The expected life of employee stock 
options was estimated using the "simplified method," as the Company has no historical information to develop 
reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and employment duration for its stock option grants. The 
simplified method is based on the average of the vesting tranches and the contractual life of each grant. The expected 
life of awards that vest immediately use the contractual maturity since they are vested when issued. For stock price 
volatility, the Company uses public company compatibles and historical private placement data as a basis for its 
expected volatility to calculate the fair value of option grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury 
notes with a term approximating the expected life of the option at the grant-date. 
 
The Company recognizes stock option forfeitures as they occur as there is insufficient historical data to accurately 
determine future forfeiture rates. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $790,000 of stock compensation expense related 
to stock options which is included within general and administrative expenses. Future stock option compensation 
expense related to these options to be recognized is $1,026,140 which is expected to be expensed over the remaining 
vesting period of 33 months. The amount of future stock-based compensation expense could be affected by any future 
option grants or by any forfeitures. 
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NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
Significant Contracts 
In September 2020, the Company signed two purchase agreements with a customer to sell 156 Casitas Units, for a 
total contract price of $9,245,574. The 156 Casitas are to be delivered upon completion. The Company has received 
three progress payments as of December 31, 2021. The first progress payment of $2,346,893 was received in 
December 2020. The second progress payment of $2,275,892 was received in February 2021, within the 120-day 
terms of the purchase order acceptance. The third progress payment in the amount of $2,311,394 was received in 
October 2021 and the remaining amount will be paid based on number of units to be delivered. The Company delivered 
33 units by December 31, 2021 and the rest before June 1, 2022. The Company received in full the balance on sales 
contract. 
 
Operating Lease  
On December 29, 2020, the Company signed a 65-month lease for their 173,000 sq ft. factory facility, commencing 
on May 1, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, a $525,000 security deposit, first month’s rent, $87,229, and first-month’s 
Tenant’s Percentage of Operating Expense Fees (CAM’s) $19,109, have been paid to the landlord. The monthly CAM 
will vary from month to month. The first month CAM will begin on May 1, 2021. The Company’s first five (5) months 
have been abated by the landlord and the Company will begin making monthly rent payments on October 1, 2021. 
Rents increase by 3% annually.  
 
Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted IFRS 16 by recording right of use assets and lease obligation on the 
balance sheet for its existing operating lease. The discount rate for the lease is calculated by using annual rate of 
increase as specific in the lease agreement. Amortization of right-of-use assets during the period in the amount of 
$720,361 is reflected in the cash flow statement. 
 
The following schedule summarizes the Company’s future minimum commitment under the non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements as of September 30, 2022. 
 
 2023 $ 1,101,229 
 2024 1,134,266 
 2025 1,168,294 
 2026    1,203,342 
 Subtotal $4,607,131 
 Interest Expense Portion      (276,124) 
 
 Net Lease Liability $ 4,331,007 
 
 Current Portion       984,688 
 
 Long-Term Portion $ 3,346,319 

 
Litigation 
There are no legal proceedings, which the Company believes will have a material adverse effect on its financial 
position. 

 
 
 
 

Page 17 

Doc ID: 04ae909544cde485cd05e8482719cb73f923d4d3



 

 

Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

(Internally Prepared) 
September 30, 2022 

 
 

Operating Lease-Property 2 
On June 10, 2022, the Company signed a 73-month lease for a 132,960 sq ft warehouse, commencing the earlier of 
(a) 30 days after substantial completion of tenant work by the landlord or (b) tenant commencing operation in the 
building.  At present, management believes the commencement date would be in April 2023.  The Company paid 
$611,616 as security deposit and the first month’s rent, including CAM in the amount of $122,323.  The lease allows 
one-month free rent subject to no default during the lease term.  The initial base rent is $103,709 and CAM is $18,614.  
The base rent will increase 4% every year. 
  
The following table summarizes the Company’s future minimum commitment under the non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements: 

Date Total 
2023  $ 829,672 
2024   1,281,843 
2025   1,333,117 
2026   1,386,442 
2027   1,441,899 
2028   1,499,575 

2029 and Thereafter 509,737 
Totals   $ 8,282,285 

 
Stock Option Plan and Issuances 
In 2022, the Company authorized the issuance of options to purchase 19,675,571 shares of the Company’s common 
stock to employees and consultants. The options have exercise price of $0.57 per share. 
 
Sales Agreements  
In February 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with a major home builder.  The agreement calls for an 
investment of $1,000,000 as convertible notes and a purchase commitment of 100 units of casitas upon the notification 
by the Company that production could be started.  The customer invested $1,000,000.  
 
The Company received two purchase orders from a customer to sell 200 units of casitas for a total sales price of 
$11,500,000.  The company received $1,150,000 as a deposit.  The Company will be informed by the customer upon 
the customer’s readiness for accepting the casitas. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

  
To the Management and Directors 
of Boxabl Inc. 
  
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Boxabl Inc. (the “Company”), which comprise 
the balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related statements of operations, 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements (the “financial statements”). 
  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Going Concern 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going 
concern. As more fully explained in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company has incurred losses 
since inception and is in the early stages of generating sufficient revenue to fund operations. These factors 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans 
with respect to these factors are also described on Note 2. The Company’s financial statements do not 
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties should the Company be 
unable to continue as a going concern. Our conclusion is not modified with respect to that matter. 
   
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
  
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
  
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s  ability to continue as 
a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 
  
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements, including omissions, are 
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considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
  
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 
  
  ● Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
  ● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

  ● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

  ● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

  ● Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

  
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 
  
/s/ dbbmckennon 
San Diego, California 
December 8, 2022
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Boxabl Inc. 
Balance Sheets 

as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 
 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

ASSETS
Current Assets: 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3) $ 21,415,506 $ 3,676,341 
 Accounts Receivable (Note 3) 488,949 - 
 Inventory (Notes 3 and 4) 4,916,235 - 
 Deposits on Inventory  858,818 - 
 Prepaids 119,617 126,838 
 Deposits in Escrow         519,756                  - 
 
  Total Current Assets    28,318,881    3,803,179 
 
Property, Equipment, and Other Assets: 
 Property and Equipment – Net (Notes 3 and 5) 5,109,604 53,222 
 Right-of-Use Assets – Net (Notes 3 and 9) 4,595,197 
 Deposits on Equipment (Note 5) 651,041 410,606 
 Deferred Offering Costs (Note 3) 13,000 13,000 
 Security Deposit (Note 9)         525,000       526,000 
 
  Total Property, Equipment, and Other Assets    10,893,842    1,002,828 
 
  TOTAL ASSETS $ 39,212,723 $ 4,806,007 
 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
Current Liabilities: 
 Accounts Payable $   1,309,172 $    126,689 
 Accrued Expenses 242,955 - 
 Customer Deposits 1,767,424 376,175 
 Deferred Revenue (Note 9) 5,467,332 2,346,893 
 Loan Payable – Related Party (Notes 6 and 7) - 563,911 

Lease Liability – Current (Notes 3 and 9) 938,933 -
 Other Current Liabilities (Note 6)         135,595         27,400 
 
  Total Current Liabilities      9,861,411    3,441,068 
 
Long-Term Liabilities: 
 Convertible Promissory Notes (Note 6) 30,925,075 167,700 
 Accrued Interest on Convertible Promissory Notes (Note 6) 1,133,795 - 
 Lease Liability - Long-Term (Notes 3 and 9)      4,090,895                  - 
 
  Total Notes Payable and Convertible Promissory Notes    36,149,765       167,700 
 
  Total Liabilities    46,011,176    3,608,768 
 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9) 
 
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit): 
 Series A Preferred Stock $0.00001 par, 250 and 75 million shares authorized,    
    188,508,830 and 170,864,790 shares issued and outstanding  
    as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (Note 8) 2,589,375 2,289,425 
 Series A-1 Preferred Stock $0.00001 par, 1.1 billion shares authorized,  
    68,097,240 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 (Note 8) 4,498,515 - 
        Series A-2 Preferred Stock $0.00001 par, 1.15 billion shares authorized, 
    0 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 (Note 8) - - 
 Common Stock $0.00001 par, 6.6 billion shares and 425 million shares authorized, 3 billion 
    shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (Note 8) 300,000 300,000 
 Additional Paid-In-Capital (Notes 3 and 8)         1,378,921       588,921 
 Accumulated Deficit   (15,565,264)   (1,981,107) 
 
  Total Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)     (6,798,453)    1,197,239 
 
  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) $ 39,212,723  $ 4,806,007 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Statements of Operations 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
 
 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 

Revenues $    1,955,795 $       90,000 
 
Cost of Goods Sold       5,313,969          90,000 
 
Gross Loss      (3,358,174)                   - 
 
Operating Expenses: 
 General and Administrative 5,497,972  677,313 
 Sales and Marketing 771,268  183,047 
 Research and Development       2,631,752         302,432 
 
  Total Operating Expenses       8,900,992      1,162,792 
 
Operating Loss     (12,259,166)    (1,162,792) 
 
Other Income/(Expense): 
 Interest Expense        1,324,991                    - 
 
Net Loss  $ (13,584,157) $ (1,162,792) 
 
 
 
Net loss per common share – basic and diluted ($ 0.00)  ($ 0.00) 
 
Weighted average common shares – basic and diluted 3,000,000,000  3,000,000,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Statements of Changes to Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
 
 

     Additional  Total 
  Members’ Series A Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Stockholders’ 
  Equity Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit) 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2019  $  888,921 - $               - - $            - $            - $    (818,315) $      70,606 
 
Conversion of LLC to C-Corporation  (888,921) - - 3,000,000,000  300,000  588,921 -  - 
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock  -  170,864,790  2,439,225 - - - -  2,439,225 
Offering Costs  -  - (149,800) - - - -  (149,800) 
Net Loss                 -                    -                  -                       -               -               -    (1,162,792)    (1,162,792) 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2020  $             -  170,864,790 $ 2,289,425  3,000,000,000 $ 300,000 $ 588,921 $ (1,981,107) $  1,197,239 

 

 
    Additional  Total 
 Series A-1 Preferred Stock Series A Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Stockholders’ 
 Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit) 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2020 - $               - 170,864,790 $ 2,289,425 3,000,000,000 $ 300,000 $    588,921 $   (1,981,107) $  1,197,239 
 
Stock Based Compensation - - - - - - 790,000 -  790,000 
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock - - 17,644,040 299,950 - - - -  299,950 
Issuance of Series A-1 Preferred Stock 68,097,240  4,834,904 - - - - - -  4,834,904 
Offering Costs - (336,389) - - - - - -  (336,389) 
Net Loss -                  -                    -                  -                      -               -               -    (13,584,157)  (13,584,157) 
 
Balance as of December 31, 2021 68,097,240 $ 4,498,515  188,508,830 $ 2,589,375 3,000,000,000 $ 300,000 $ 1,378,921 $ (15,565,264) $ (6,798,453) 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Statements of Cash Flows 

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
 
 

 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
 Net Loss $ (13,584,157) $ (1,162,792) 
 Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operations: 
 Depreciation and Amortization 265,367  16,667 
 Stock Based Compensation 790,000  - 
 Amortization-Right-of-Use Asset 607,408 
  
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: 
 Accounts Receivable (488,949) - 
 Deposits on Inventory (858,818) - 
 Inventory (4,916,235) - 
 Deferred Costs of Sales -  90,000  
 Other Current Assets 7,221  (122,829) 
 Accounts Payable 1,109,831  (22,582) 
 Deferred Revenue 3,120,439  2,286,893 
 Customer Deposits 1,391,249  376,175 
 Accrued Liabilities 242,955  27,400 
 Other Current Liabilities (50,569) - 
 Payment of Lease Liability (172,777) - 
 Accrued Interest on Convertible Notes       1,133,795                    - 
 
  Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities    (11,403,240)     1,488,932 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
 Purchase of Property and Equipment and Deposits (5,380,577) (410,607) 
 Deposits               1,000        (526,000) 
 
  Net Cash Used In Investing Activities      (5,379,577)       (936,607) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
 Government Grant-PPP 49,166  - 
 Proceeds From Loan Payable – Related Party -  623,870 
 Payments on Loans Payable – Related Parties (563,268) (59,959) 
 Proceeds From Convertible Promissory Notes Payable 30,457,583  167,700 
 Offering Costs (336,389) (162,800) 
 Proceeds From Sale of Preferred Stock       4,914,890     2,439,225 
 
  Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities    34,521,982      3,008,036 
 
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 17,739,165  3,560,361 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents – Beginning of Year       3,676,341         115,980 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents – End of Year $  21,415,506  $  3,676,341 
 
 
Supplemental Cash Flow Information: 
Interest Paid $ 13,958 $  - 
 
Income Tax Paid $  - $  - 

 
Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities: 
 Deposits in Escrow $  519,756 $  - 
 Purchase of Software with a Note Payable $  84,598 $  - 
 Purchase of Equipment in Accounts Payable $  72,009 $  - 
 Present Value of Payments Under Operating Lease-Right-of-Use Asset and Liability $ 5,202,605 $  - 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
NOTE 1- INCORPORATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
Boxabl Inc., is a development stage Nevada (“C”) corporation originally organized as a Nevada limited liability 
company, on December 2, 2017. The corporation converted from a Nevada limited liability company to a Nevada 
corporation on June 16, 2020. The financial statements of Boxabl Inc., (which may be referred to as the “Company”, 
“Boxabl”, “we”, “us” or “our”) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The Company’s headquarters are in 
Las Vegas, Nevada.  
 
Boxabl Inc., (which may refer to its product as “boxes”, “casita”, “ADU” or “Alternative Dwelling Unit”) is in the 
process of building a new type of modular box with the help of modern manufacturing processes. Its product will
result in superior, higher quality residential and commercial buildings in half the time and half the cost, by resolving 
the problems of labor shortages and using approximately 80% less building material. The Company has also developed 
patented pending shipping technology, which will help it serve large geographic areas from one factory. This 
innovation allows the Company to serve the entire USA and even international markets. 
 
NOTE 2 – GOING CONCERN  
 
The Company incurred a net loss of $13,584,157 during the year ended December 31, 2021 and currently has limited 
revenues, which creates substantial doubt of its ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
The Company expects to obtain funding through debt and equity placement offerings until it consistently achieves 
positive cash flows from operations. The continuing viability of the Company and its ability to continue as a going 
concern is dependent on the Company being successful in its continued efforts in growing its revenue and/or accessing 
additional sources of capital. Management’s plan to address this need includes, (a) continued exercise of tight controls 
to conserve cash, and (b) obtaining additional equity financing. There are no assurances that our plans will be 
successful. See Notes 8 and 10 for additional information and amounts raised regarding the Company’s offerings. 
 
The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary if the Company is 
unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
NOTE 3-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Presentation 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and are expressed in U.S. 
dollars. The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31.
 
Financials Statements 
Stockholders’ equity section of the Balance Sheet Series A-1 Preferred stock and Common stock shares issued now 
reflects the retroactive carry back of the 1-to-10 stock split. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requires all 
stock figures disclosed on comparative financial statements to retroactively reflect any stock splits. Series A Preferred 
stock, Series A-1 Preferred stock, and Common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, has 
been changed to conform to stock split. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience, and various other factors 
that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments 
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of costs and expenses that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The actual results experienced by the Company may differ materially and adversely from the 
Company’s estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the estimates and the actual results, future 
results of operations will be affected. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties  
The Company’s business and operations are sensitive to general business and economic conditions in the U.S. and 
worldwide along with local, state, and federal governmental policy decisions. A host of factors beyond the Company’s 
control could cause fluctuations in these conditions. Adverse conditions may include: recession, downturn or 
otherwise; government policies. These adverse conditions could affect the Company’s financial condition and the 
results of its operations. 
 
On January 20, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a “Public Health Emergency 
of International Concern” and on March 10, 2020, declared it to be a pandemic.  Actions taken around the world to 
help mitigate the spread of the coronavirus include restrictions on travel, and quarantines in certain areas, and forced 
closures for certain types of public places and businesses. The coronavirus and actions taken to mitigate it have had 
and are expected to continue to have an adverse impact on the economic and financial markets of many countries, 
including the geographical area in which the Company operates.  Measures taken by various governments to contain 
the virus have affected economic activity. We have taken a several measures to monitor and mitigate the effects of 
COVID-19, such as safety and health measures for our stakeholders and securing the supply of material that are 
essential to our production process. At this stage, the impact on our business and results has not been significant. We 
do expect a reduction in the supply of goods and materials from our foreign suppliers. We will continue to follow the 
various government policies and advice, and, in parallel, we will do our utmost to continue our operations in the best 
and safest way possible without jeopardizing the health of our stakeholders. The COVID-19 Coronavirus caused raised 
prices and supply chain issues that slowed down our production and caused us to have to request a new delivery date 
on the ADS order which was granted. There were no other serious impacts. 
 
Decreased demand in the housing industry would adversely affect our business. Demand for new housing construction 
is tied to the broader economy and factors outside the Company’s control. Should factors such as the COVID-19 
pandemic result in continued loss of general economic activity, we would experience a slower growth rate in demand 
for our Boxes.  
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit 
price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants as of the measurement date. Applicable accounting guidance provides an established hierarchy for inputs 
used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs 
by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market 
participants would use in valuing the asset or liability and are developed based on market data obtained from sources 
independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the factors 
that market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability.   
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 
 

• Level 1 – Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in 
active markets. 

 
• Level 2 – Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace. 
 
• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity. 
 

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. 
 
Fair-value estimates discussed herein are based upon certain market assumptions and pertinent information available 
to management as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. The respective carrying value of certain on-balance-sheet financial 
instruments approximated their fair values. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of issuance 
to be cash equivalents. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
Account Receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect on balances outstanding at year -end.  The 
Company uses the allowance method for uncollectable accounts receivable.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is 
based on management’s evaluation of outstanding accounts receivable at the end of the year.  As of December 31, 
2021, an allowance was not required. 
 
Inventory 
Inventory consists of raw materials, work in progress, and finished goods and is valued at the lower of cost or net 
realized value with the cost determined using the weighted average method.  Damaged and obsolete inventory are 
valued based on management’s best estimate and any difference charged to expense.   
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives of approximately five years. Expenditures for maintenance, repairs, and minor improvements are charged 
to expense as incurred. Major improvements with economic lives greater than one year are capitalized. Leasehold 
improvements will be depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or the estimated useful life. 
 
Long-Lived Assets 
The Company reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.  No impairment charges were 
recorded for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
Revenue Recognition  
The Company adopted International Accounting Standards “IAS 1.117”, Revenue From Contracts with customers and 
its amendments (collectively known as “IFRS 15”) effective January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective 
transition approach applied to all contracts. Therefore, the reported results for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020 reflect the application of IFRS 15. Management determined that there were no retroactive adjustments necessary 
to revenue recognition upon the adoption of the IAS 1.117. In addition, the adoption of the IAS did not have an impact 
on operations and financial statements. The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps: 

 
- Identification of a contract with a customer. 
- Identification of the performance obligations in the contract. 
- Determination of the transaction price. 
- Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. 
- Recognition of revenue when or as the performance obligations are satisfied. 
 

Revenues are recognized when performance obligations are satisfied through the transfer of promised goods to the 
Company’s customers. Control transfers upon shipment of product and when the title has been passed to the customers. 
This includes the transfer of legal title, physical possession, the risk and rewards of ownership, and customer 
acceptance. Revenue is recorded net of sales tax collected from customers on behalf of taxing authorities, allowance 
for estimated returns, chargebacks, and markdowns based upon management’s estimates and the Company’s historical 
experience. The Company records a liability for deposits for future products. The liability is relieved, and revenue is 
recognized once the revenue recognition criteria is met.  
 
In September 2020, the Company signed two purchase agreements with a customer to sell 156 Casitas Units for a total 
contract price of $9,245,574. The Company received a progress payment from the customer of $2,346,893 in 
December 2020, $2,275,892 in February 2021, and $2,311,394 in October 2021.  
 
The Company delivered 33 units of Casitas by December 31, 2021.  The Company invoiced the purchaser for 
$1,955,795 as total sales and recorded $488,949 as accounts receivable after applying $1,466,846 of advance payment.  
The balance of advance payment as of December 31, 2021 in the amount of $5,467,332 is reflected as deferred 
revenue. 
 
The Company has received $1,767,424 in customer deposits for over 3,360 Boxabl units as of December 31, 2021. 
The balance of customer deposits as of December 31, 2020 was $376,175.  The amounts are reflected as customer 
deposits as the deposit does not guarantee a sales contract and is tandem to a reservation. The customer can request a 
refund of the deposit until a sale agreement is executed. 
 
Cost of Goods Sold 
Cost of goods sold consists primarily of the cost of products used in the production of the Company’s finished 
products, shipping, the related labor, and overhead charges associated with that production. For 2020, the cost of goods 
sold incurred more than revenues recorded in connection with the contract are classified as research and development 
as those were determined to be costs associated with improving the Company’s process, in tandem to a prototype. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
In the second half of October 2021, the Company began production of Casitas.  The Company incurred much higher 
production costs due to various factors, including the following: 

• Inefficiencies due to new machinery and newness of product and procedures which required significant 
training of the workforce. 

• The one-shift production capacity of the factory is two per day.  The actual units produced were 4 in October, 
13 in November, and 18 in December.  In order to catch up with its delivery obligation under the sales 
contract, the Company hired additional outside labor and paid overtime and double time shifts. 

• Tight skilled labor market which caused higher labor rate. 
• Supply chain delivery issues which caused the purchase of several items of material from local vendors with 

a substantially higher price. 
 
Advertising and Promotion  
Advertising and promotion are expensed as incurred. Advertising and promotion expense for the years ended 
December 31,2021 and 2020 amounted to approximately $582,000 and $183,000, respectively, which is included in 
sales and marketing expense. 
 
Research and Development 
Research and development costs consisting of design, materials, consultants related to prototype and process 
improvements and developments are expensed as incurred. Total research and development costs for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 are $2,631,752 and $302,432 and, respectively.  
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash 
and cash equivalents.  Cash and cash equivalents are maintained at high quality financial institutions.  During the 
years, the Company exceeded the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limit.  The Company has not 
experienced any losses with respect to its cash balances.  Based upon assessment of the financial condition of these 
institutions, management believes that the risk of loss of any uninsured amounts is minimal 
 
Customers: 
In 2021 and 2020, the Company sold to one customer each year. Account receivable as of December 31, 2021 was 
related to only one customer.  For 2022, the Company finished delivering the product to the 2021 customer and have 
signed purchase orders with two new customers. See Note 10 – Subsequent Events. 
 
Inventory: 
The Company imports a substantial part of its materials from overseas vendors: mainly China.  Consequently, the 
Company’s ability to purchase and the costs of its products are subject to political and economic situations, both in 
the United States and abroad. In 2021, approximately 13.3%, 12.9%, and 9.2% was purchased from its three highest 
vendors. The Company maintains that the loss of one or more vendors would not have a material impact on the 
Company’s operations as replacements could be identified. 
 
Income Taxes 
The Company was formed as a Limited liability Company in Nevada for which the Company’s policy was to record 
distributions to its members related to the member’s federal and state income taxes that are attributable to the net 
income of the Company. The Company records such distributions when they are declared and made to the member. 
Federal and state income tax regulations require that the income or loss of a limited liability Company be included in 
the tax returns of the members; accordingly, there are no liabilities or provisions for income taxes recorded in the 
accompanying financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
On June 16, 2020, the Company converted to a Nevada Corporation. The conversion was tax-free under Internal 
Revenue Code, which is typically defined as a mere change in identity, form, or place of organization. Management 
elected to terminate the LLC election effective June 15, 2020 and the Company will operate for tax purposes as a C 
corporation from that date forward.  
 
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with IFRS 12 Income Taxes. This standard requires the 
Company to use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, whereby deferred tax assets are 
recognized for deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary 
differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their 
tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more 
likely than not that some portion, or all, the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. 
 
Tax positions initially must be recognized in the financial statements when it is more likely than not the position will 
be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Such tax positions initially and subsequently are to be measured 
at the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement 
with the tax authority, assuming full knowledge of the position and relevant facts. 
 
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company evaluated its net deferred tax assets of $2,616,470 and $167,794, 
respectively, which consisted primarily of net operating loss carry forwards and determined a full valuation allowance 
was appropriate. 
 
At December 31, 2021, the Company’s gross net operating loss (“NOL”) carry forward was $12,512,604, which 
originated from losses from June 15, 2020 forward.  NOLs originating in 2020 and subsequent can be carried forward 
indefinitely.  The difference between the statutory rate of 21% and the effective tax rate is due to a full valuation 
allowance on deferred tax assets and permanent differences due to non-deductible interest expense. 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had no uncertain tax positions that qualify for either recognition or 
disclosure in the financial statements.  The Company will recognize future accrued interest and penalties related to 
unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense if incurred.  The Company’s tax return from 2018 forward is open to 
federal and state tax examination.  As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no ongoing tax examinations. 
 
Deferred Offering Costs 
Incremental costs directly associated with the offering of securities are deferred and charged against the gross proceeds 
of the offering upon completion. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, costs associated with the 
Company’s offerings totalled $339,839 and $149,800 which are netted against the related proceeds within 
stockholders’ equity (deficit), respectively. The Company had $13,000 of deferred offering costs, included in the non-
current asset section, on the accompanying balance sheets at December 31, 2021 and 2020 related to its Regulation A 
offering which was launched in 2022. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
Net Loss per Share 
Net earnings or loss per share is computed by dividing net income or loss by the weighted-average number of revised 
shares outstanding during the period, excluding shares subject to redemption or forfeiture. The Company presents 
basic and diluted net earnings or loss per share.  Diluted net earnings or loss per share reflect the actual weighted 
average of common shares issued and outstanding during the period, adjusted for potentially dilutive securities 
outstanding. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss per share if their 
inclusion would be anti-dilutive. As all potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share for each year. As of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, the Company’s potentially dilutive instruments were the convertible promissory notes for which a conversion 
price had not been established and the Series A and Series A-1 preferred stock for which is contingently convertible. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
The Company uses IFRS 2 Share-based payments in order to record compensation for all stock-based awards, 
including stock options and restricted stock, which are measured at fair value on the date of grant and recognized over 
the associated vesting periods. The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes 
model. The fair value of restricted stock awards is estimated on the date of the grant based on the fair value of the 
Company's underlying common stock. The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock options and 
restricted stock awards on a straight-line basis over the associated service or vesting periods. 
 
Determining the grant date fair value of options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires management 
to make assumptions and judgments. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and, if different assumptions had 
been used, stock-based compensation expense could have been materially different from the amounts recorded. 
 
Leases 
The application of IFRS 16 “Leases” requires significant judgments and certain key estimations to be made including 
identifying whether a contract (or part of a contract) included a lease, determining whether variable payments are in-
substance fixed, establishing whether there are multiple leases in an arrangement, estimating the lease term, 
determining the appropriate rate to discount lease payments, determining whether it is reasonably certain that an 
extension or termination option will be exercised, determining the stand-alone selling price of lease and non-lease 
components, and assessing whether a right-of-use asset is impaired. 
 
Unanticipated changes in these judgments or estimates could affect the identification and determination of the value 
of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at initial recognition, as well as the subsequent measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets.  These items could potentially result in changes to amounts reported in the 
consolidated statements of income and consolidated balance sheets in a given period. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board (“Board”) issued IFRS 16 Leases.  The guidance is 
effective on or after January 1, 2019. This IFRS requires a lessee to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
under most operating leases in its balance sheet. The Company adopted IFRS 16, effective January 1, 2021, which 
requires recognition of right of use (“ROU”) and lease liability based on the present value of the future minimum lease 
payments over the lease term.  See Note 9 for additional information. 
 
Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards could have a 
material effect on the accompanying financial statements. As new accounting pronouncements are issued, the 
Company will adopt those that are applicable under the circumstances. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
NOTE 4 – INVENTORY  
 
As of December 31, 2021, inventory consists of the following: 
 

• Raw Materials $ 4,668,455 
• Work In Progress 144,538 
• Finished Goods       103,242 

 
TOTAL INVENTORY $ 4,916,235 

 
NOTE 5 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 

The Company’s property and equipment consist of the following amounts for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020: 
 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
Machinery, Equipment, and Furniture: 
 Balance – January 1 $      83,336 $ 83,336 
 Acquisitions During the Year    3,442,080             - 
 Balance – December 31 3,525,416 83,336 
 Less Accumulated Depreciation      (177,233)    (30,114) 
 
Net Machinery, Equipment, and Furniture – December 31    3,348,183     53,222 
  
Leasehold Improvements: 
 Balance – January 1 - - 
 Acquisitions During the Year    1,671,686             - 
 Balance – December 31 1,671,686 - 
 Less Accumulated Depreciation        (83,584)             - 
 
Net Leasehold Improvements – December 31    1,588,102              - 
  
Technology Equipment and Software: 
 Balance – January 1  - - 
 Acquisition During the Year       207,983              - 
 Balance – December 31 207,983 - 
 Less – Accumulated Depreciation         (34,664)             - 
 
Net Technology Equipment and Software – December 31       173,319              - 
 
Total Net Assets – December 31 $ 5,109,604  $ 53,222 
  
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company paid $651,041 and $410,606, respectively for deposits on 
equipment. The total amount is recorded as Deposits on Equipment on the balance sheet.   
 
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $265,367 and $16,667 in depreciation 
expense, respectively. 
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Boxabl Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 
NOTE 6 – DEBT 
 

Loan Payable to Officers 
The Company executed a promissory note to the Company’s majority shareholder and CEO subsequent to the year 
ended December 31, 2020, to formalize the terms. The proceeds, for which all were received in 2020, were used for 
operations and manufacturing three casita prototypes. The principal balance outstanding bears a simple interest rate 
at the annual “prime rate” published by the Wall Street Journal (3.25% at December 31, 2020) plus one percent (1.0%). 
Interest shall accrue on the entire principal sum of this promissory note beginning January 1, 2021. The note was paid 
in full in August 2021. 
 
PPP Loan 
In March 2021, the Company obtained a PPP loan in the amount of $49,166. The loan was forgiven in 2022. 
 
Convertible Notes Payable  
On November 17, 2020, the Company commenced an offering of convertible promissory notes pursuant to Rule 506(c) 
Regulation D, seeking to raise up to $50,000,000 of convertible promissory notes. Simple interest will accrue on an 
annual rate of 10.0% per annum. If the Company issues securities, under the anticipated Regulation A offering, the 
convertible promissory notes and accrued interest will automatically convert into shares offered under that offering at 
a conversion price ranging from 50-90% of the per share price paid by the purchasers of such equity securities in the 
offering. The conversion discount rates are based on timing and amount of the convertible promissory notes.  If the 
debt notes have not been previously converted, principle and unpaid accrued interest will be due and payable at March 
31, 2023. A beneficial conversion feature was not recorded as the convertible promissory notes are contingently 
convertible. In addition, costs incurred in connection with obtaining the convertible promissory notes were 
insignificant and recorded as interest expense. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the gross amount of convertible 
promissory notes was $30,925,075 and $167,700, respectively, in convertible promissory notes. Subsequent to 
December 31, 2021, the total amount of proceeds under convertible promissory increased to $44,851,658 due to 
additional borrowings, an increase of $13,926,583. 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had accrued interest of $1,133,795 and $0, respectively, for all 
outstanding convertible notes.   
 
On April 1, 2022, in connection with the Company’s launch of their Regulation A offering, all convertible promissory 
notes were converted into 785,297,135 Series A-1 Preferred stock, representing $44,851,658 of face value and 
$2,044,430 of accrued interest. The Company is still determining the impact on the financial statements as the 
convertible promissory notes were converted at prices which were significantly lower than similar securities being 
sold at the same time. The Company expects to record a significant amount of interest expense in 2022 related to this 
conversion. 
 

NOTE 7 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company has a contract with the majority shareholder and CEO to share certain costs related to office space, 
support staff, and consultancy services. 
 

The Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Build IP LLC, an entity controlled by the Company’s 
majority shareholder and CEO. Under the terms of the agreement, Build IP LLC has agreed to license its structure, 
transport, and trademark patents to the Company. Quarterly royalty payments of 1% are due on royalty-bearing sales. 
As of December 31, 2021, $19,558 has been recorded as royalty expense in the accompanying financial statements 
which is 1% of the sales. 
 

See Note 6 and 8 for additional related party transactions. 
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NOTE 8 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
 
Preferred and Common Stock  
The Company converted to a C-Corporation in the state of Nevada on June 16, 2020.  In conjunction with the 
conversion, the Company authorized the issuance of 4.25 billion shares of common stock with a par value of $0.00001 
and 750 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.00001.  The Company initially designated all shares 
of preferred stock as “Series A Preferred Stock”, see below for rights and preferences. 
 
On June 16, 2020, 3 billion common shares were issued to the Company’s two stockholders in exchange for their 
membership interests in Boxabl, LLC.  
 
On February 24, 2021, the Company filed an amendment to the articles of incorporation which increased the number 
of authorized preferred shares to 85 million, for which 202,516,980 and 647,483,020 shares (post split effected) were 
designated as Series A Preferred Stock and Series A-1 Preferred Stock, respectively. 

 

On November 19, 2021, the Board of Director decided to increase the number of shares to the following: 6.6 billion 
shares of Common Stock of $0.00001 par value, 250 million shares of Series A Preferred Stock of $0.00001 par value, 
1.1 billion shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock of $0.00001 par value, 1.15 billion shares of Series A-2 Preferred 
Stock of $0.00001 par value, and 900 million shares of unclassified Preferred Stock of $0.00001 par value. Total of 
increased authorized shares is 10 billion. The balance sheet and notes in this report are reflected retroactively as 
discussed here. 
   
The Series A Preferred Stock has the following preferences: 
  
Holders of Series A Preferred Stock are not entitled to any voting rights. Shares of Series A preferred stock are 
convertible to common stock on a one for one basis upon the Company’s IPO or upon a Regulation A capital raise. In 
the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, payment shall be 
made to the holders of Series A Preferred Stock before payment is made to any holders of common stock. The 
Company’s Stockholders’ Agreement includes a contractual call right for the majority common stock shareholders to 
repurchase the shares of the investors. If the call right is exercised, investors would be required to sell their shares at 
the fair market price established by an independent valuation service or investment bank. 
 
The Series A-1 Preferred Stock has the following preferences:  
 
Holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock are not entitled to any voting rights. Shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock are 
convertible to common stock on a one for one basis upon the Company’s IPO or upon a Regulation A capital raise. In 
the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, payment shall be 
made to the holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock before payment is made to any holders of common stock. The 
Company’s Stockholders’ Agreement includes a contractual call right for the majority common stock shareholders to 
repurchase the shares of the investors. If the call right is exercised, investors would be required to sell their shares at 
the fair market price established by an independent valuation service or investment bank. 
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The Series A-2 Preferred Stock has the following preferences:  
 
Holders of Series A-2 Preferred Stock are not entitled to any voting rights. Shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock are 
convertible to common stock on a one for one basis upon the Company’s IPO or upon a Regulation A capital raise. In 
the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, payment shall be 
made to the holders of Series A-2 Preferred Stock before payment is made to any holders of common stock. The 
Company’s Stockholders’ Agreement includes a contractual call right for the majority common stock shareholders to 
repurchase the shares of the investors. If the call right is exercised, investors would be required to sell their shares at 
the fair market price established by an independent valuation service or investment bank. 
 
The “Series A Original Issue Price” shall mean $0.017 per share, and the “Series A-1 Original Issue Price” shall mean 
$0.079 per share, in each case subject to appropriate adjustment in the event of any stock dividend, stock split, 
combination or other similar recapitalization with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock or the Series A-1 Preferred 
Stock, as the case may be.   
 
The Company’s Regulation CF and Regulation D capital raises resulted in net proceeds of $2,022,425 and the issuance 
of 155,158,910 Series A Preferred Stock at $0.014 per share during the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
On December 2, 2020, the Company was offering up to $1,000,000 worth of Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to 
Section 4(a)(2) to investors with established, pre-existing relationships to the Company at a price of $0.017 per share. 
The capital raise resulted in proceeds of $267,000 and the issuance of 15,705,880 Series A Preferred Stock at $0.017 
per share as of December 31, 2020.  The Company received an additional $299,950 in proceeds and the issuance of 
17,644,040 Series A Preferred Stock at $0.017 per share as of December 31, 2021. 
 
On December 13, 2020, the Company engaged a broker dealer to perform administrative and compliance related 
functions in connection with the Company pending Regulation A capital raise of up to $49,500,000. No underwriting 
or placement agent services will be provided. As compensation for the services, the Company has agreed to pay the 
broker dealer a commission equal to 1% of the amount raised in the offering to support the offering on all newly 
invested funds after the issuance of a No Objection Letter by FINRA. 
 
On October 17, 2020, the Company entered into an exclusive placement agency agreement. Under the terms of the 
agreement the Company is to pay 7.5% of the aggregate subscription proceeds for equity sold under the ongoing 
offerings including the pending Regulation A offering. In December 2020, the Company paid $13,000, and was 
recorded in other assets as deferred offering costs in the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2020.   
 
On May 3, 2021, the Company offered up to $3,930,000 in Series A-1 Preferred Stock at $0.071 with a minimum 
target amount of $10,000. 
 
Starting 2022, the Company offered Series A-2 Preferred shares sold for $0.80 under Regulation A and under 
Regulation D in the following brackets - $20,000 - $0.76 $100,000 - $0.72 $1,000,000 - $0.68 $10,000,000 - $0.64 
$100,000,000 - $0.60. 
 
On March 31, 2022, the Company has been qualified to raise up to $68,500,000 pursuant to Regulation A offering.  
On September 14, 2022, the Company has been qualified to sell up to 81,062,500 shares of Series A-2 Preferred Stock 
at a price of $0.80 per share on a “best effort” basis, as well as 759,493 shares of Series A-1 Preferred at a price of 
$0.079 and 6,428,571 shares of Series A Preferred Stock at a price of $0.014.  The Company has set a minimum of 
$3,000,000 in gross proceeds to be received prior to the occurrence of any closing for Series A-2 Preferred Stock.  As 
of December 7, 2022, the Company has sold 81,062,500 Preferred Series A-2 shares under Regulation A offering for 
$64,850,000 and 36,713,063 Preferred Series A-2 for $27,608,316 under Regulation D.  In addition, the Company has 
sold 5,913,600 Series A shares for $82,790.40 and 741,700 Series A-1 shares for $58,594.30.  Under Regulation CF, 
the Company sold 3,991,825 Series A-2 shares for $3,193,460. 
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Stock Incentive Plan 
In 2021, the Company’s board of directors authorized the 2021 Stock Option Plan which allows for the issuance of 
options to purchase 150,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2021, 
the Company granted stock options to purchase 81,075,300 shares of Class A common stock, of which 44,226,100 
vested immediately upon issuance. The remainder vest over a period of 36 months. The fair values of options granted 
was approximately $1,816,140 in the year ended December 31, 2021. The options have an exercise price of $0.07 and 
expire 10 years from date of issuance.  
 
As of December 31, 2021, there were 68,924,700 shares available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company valued the options using the Black-Scholes pricing model 
on the date of grant using the following assumptions: 
 
 Expected life (years) 5 - 6.50 
 Risk-free interest rate 2.0% 
 Expected volatility 39.77% 
 Annual dividend yield 0.0% 
 
Determining the appropriate fair value of stock-based awards requires the input of subjective assumptions, including 
the fair value of the Company's common stock, and for stock options, the expected life of the option, and expected 
stock price volatility. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value its stock option awards. 
The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of stock-based awards represent management's best estimates and 
involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management's judgment. As a result, if factors change and 
management uses different assumptions, stock-based compensation expense could be materially different for future 
awards. 
 
The Company uses the following inputs when valuating stock-based awards. The expected life of employee stock 
options was estimated using the "simplified method," as the Company has no historical information to develop 
reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and employment duration for its stock option grants. The 
simplified method is based on the average of the vesting tranches and the contractual life of each grant. The expected 
life of awards that vest immediately use the contractual maturity since they are vested when issued. For stock price 
volatility, the Company uses public company compatibles and historical private placement data as a basis for its 
expected volatility to calculate the fair value of option grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury 
notes with a term approximating the expected life of the option at the grant-date. 
 
The Company recognizes stock option forfeitures as they occur as there is insufficient historical data to accurately 
determine future forfeiture rates. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized $790,000 of stock compensation expense related 
to stock options which is included within general and administrative expenses. Future stock option compensation 
expense related to these options to be recognized is $1,026,140 which is expected to be expensed over the remaining 
vesting period of 33 months. The amount of future stock-based compensation expense could be affected by any future 
option grants or by any forfeitures. 
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NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
Significant Contracts 
In September 2020, the Company signed two purchase agreements with a customer to sell 156 Casitas Units, for a 
total contract price of $9,245,574. The 156 Casitas are to be delivered upon completion. The Company has received 
three progress payments as of December 31, 2021. The first progress payment of $2,346,893 was received in 
December 2020. The second progress payment of $2,275,892 was received in February 2021, within the 120-day 
terms of the purchase order acceptance. The third progress payment in the amount of $2,311,394 was received in 
October 2021 and the remaining amount will be paid based on number of units to be delivered. The Company delivered 
33 units by December 31, 2021 and the rest before June 1, 2022. The Company received in full the balance on sales 
contract. 
 
Operating Lease  
On December 29, 2020, the Company signed a 65-month lease for their 173,000 sq ft. factory facility, commencing 
on May 1, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, a $525,000 security deposit, first month’s rent, $87,229, and first-month’s 
Tenant’s Percentage of Operating Expense Fees (CAM’s) $19,109, have been paid to the landlord. The monthly CAM 
will vary from month to month. The first month CAM will begin on May 1, 2021. The Company’s first five (5) months 
have been abated by the landlord and the Company will begin making monthly rent payments on October 1, 2021. 
Rents increase by 3% annually. Total rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $903,214.  
 
Effective January 1, 2021, the Company adopted IFRS 16 by recording right of use assets and lease obligation on the 
balance sheet for its existing operating lease. The discount rate for the lease is calculated by using annual rate of 
increase as specific in the lease agreement. Amortization of right-of-use assets during the period in the amount of 
$607,408 is reflected in the cash flow statement. 
 
The following schedule summarizes the Company’s future minimum commitment under the non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements as of December 31, 2021. 
 
 2022 $ 1,077,074 
 2023 1,109,386 
 2024 1,142,668 
 2025 1,176,948 
 2026       906,221 
 Subtotal $5,412,297 
 Interest Expense Portion      (382,469) 
 
 Net Lease Liability $ 5,029,828 
 
 Current Portion       938,933 
 
 Long-Term Portion $ 4,090,895 

 
Litigation 
 
There are no legal proceedings, which the Company believes will have a material adverse effect on its financial 
position. 
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NOTE 10 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
See Notes 6 and 8 for additional subsequent events. 
 
Operating Lease 
On June 10, 2022, the Company signed a 73-month lease for a 132,960 sq ft warehouse, commencing the earlier of 
(a) 30 days after substantial completion of tenant work by the landlord or (b) tenant commencing operation in the 
building.  At present, management believes the commencement date would be in October 2022.  The Company paid 
$611,616 as security deposit and the first month’s rent, including CAM in the amount of $122,323.  The lease allows 
one-month free rent subject to no default during the lease term.  The initial base rent is $103,709 and CAM is $18,614.  
The base rent will increase 4% every year. 
  
The following table summarizes the Company’s future minimum commitment under the non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements: 

Date Total 
2022  $ 207,418 
2023   1,256,950 
2024   1,307,228 
2025   1,359,516 
2026   1,413,896 

2027 and Thereafter   2,737,277 
Totals   $ 8,282,285 

 
Stock Option Plan and Issuances 
In 2022, the Company authorized the issuance of options to purchase 19,675,571 shares of the Company’s common 
stock to employees and consultants. The options have exercise price of $0.57 per share.
 
Sales Agreements  
In February 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with a major home builder.  The agreement calls for an 
investment of $1,000,000 as convertible notes and a purchase commitment of 100 units of casitas upon the notification 
by the Company that production could be started.  The customer invested $1,000,000.  
 
The Company received two purchase orders from a customer to sell 200 units of casitas for a total sales price of 
$11,500,000.  The company received $1,150,000 as a deposit.  The Company will be informed by the customer upon 
the customer’s readiness for accepting the casitas. 
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through December 8, 2022, the issuance date of these financial 
statements. 
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